Government Bill

Explanatory note

General policy statement

This Bill gives effect to the deed of settlement, signed on 2 April 2011, in which the Crown and Ngāti Mākino agree to the final settlement of the historical Treaty of Waitangi claims of Ngāti Mākino. Legislation is necessary to give effect to certain aspects of the settlement.

Part 1—

- sets out the purpose of the Bill and deals with other matters of general application; and
- defines Ngāti Mākino, historical claims, and other essential elements; and
- records the acknowledgements made by the Crown to Ngāti Mākino in the deed of settlement; and
- gives effect to the agreement of Ngāti Mākino to a final settlement of all the historical Treaty of Waitangi claims of Ngāti Mākino.

Part 2 sets out the cultural redress provided to Ngāti Mākino, including—

- protocols; and
- statutory acknowledgements; and

- whenua rāhui; and
- cultural redress properties and their vesting provisions; and
- names of reserves and conservation areas; and
- the vesting of Moutoroi Pā.

Part 3 sets out the commercial redress provided to Ngāti Mākino, including—

- transfer of the Crown forestry licensed land and the Ōtamarākau School site; and
- provision for access to a protected site; and
- the trustees' right of first refusal in relation to certain land.

Clause by clause analysis

Clause 1 states the Title of the Bill.

Clause 2 provides that the Bill will come into force on the day after the date on which it receives the Royal assent.

Part 1

Purpose, acknowledgements, interpretation provisions, settlement of historical claims, and miscellaneous matters

Subpart 1—Purpose

Clause 3 states that the purpose of the Bill is to give effect to certain provisions of the deed of settlement, which is a deed to settle the historical claims of Ngāti Mākino.

Clause 4 states that the Bill will bind the Crown.

Clause 5 provides an outline of the Bill.

Clause 6 sets out the Crown's acknowledgements.

Subpart 2—Interpretation

Clause 7 states a general rule for the interpretation of the Bill.

Clause 8 defines terms used in the Bill.

Clause 9 defines Ngāti Mākino.

Clause 10 defines historical claims.

Subpart 3—Settlement of historical claims

Historical claims settled and jurisdiction of courts, etc, removed

Clause 11 settles the historical claims and provides that the settlement is final. It removes the jurisdiction of courts, tribunals, and other judicial bodies in respect of the historical claims, the deed of settlement, the Bill, and the settlement redress (but not in respect of the interpretation or implementation of the deed of settlement or the Bill).

Consequential amendment to Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975

Clause 12 amends the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975 to remove the jurisdiction of the Waitangi Tribunal as provided in clause 11.

Protections no longer apply

Clause 13 provides that certain enactments do not apply to settlement property.

Clause 14 provides for the removal of memorials from the certificates of title or computer registers relating to settlement property.

Subpart 4—Miscellaneous matters *Perpetuities*

Clause 15 provides for an exception to the rule against perpetuities and any relevant provisions of the Perpetuities Act 1964 for the trustees and in respect of documents entered into by the Crown to give effect to the deed of settlement.

Timing of actions or matters

Clause 16 provides that the actions or matters occurring under the Bill occur or take effect on the settlement date or as otherwise specified.

Clause 17 requires the chief executive of the Ministry of Justice to make copies of the deed of settlement available for inspection at the Ministry's head office and on the Internet, and available for purchase.

Part 2 Cultural redress

Subpart 1—Protocols

Clauses 18 to 22 provide for the responsible Ministers to issue protocols to the trustees that relate to taonga tūturu and Crown minerals.

Subpart 2—Statutory acknowledgement and deed of recognition

Statutory acknowledgement

Clauses 23 to 31 provide that the Crown acknowledges Ngāti Mākino's statements of association with certain statutory areas; these clauses state the purposes of the acknowledgement, and how it affects specified decision-making by local authorities, the Environment Court, and the New Zealand Historic Places Trust. The limitations on the acknowledgements are set out in *clauses 33 to 35*.

Deed of recognition

Clause 32 authorises the Minister of Conservation and the Director-General of Conservation to enter into a deed of recognition in relation to a defined part of Lake Rotoma Scenic Reserve. The limitations on the deed of recognition are set out in *clauses 33 to 35*.

Consequential amendment to Resource Management Act 1991

Clause 36 amends Schedule 11 of the Resource Management Act 1991 by inserting "Ngāti Mākino Claims Settlement Act **2011**".

Subpart 3—Whenua rāhui

Clause 37 defines terms used in relation to the whenua rāhui.

Clauses 38 to 55 declare the northern part of Lake Rotoma Scenic Reserve to be subject to a whenua rāhui, provide for the Crown to acknowledge the values stated by Ngāti Mākino in relation to the site, and provide for the Crown and the trustees to agree on protection principles in relation to the site. The purposes of the declaration and of the Crown's acknowledgement of Ngāti Mākino values are to require the New Zealand Conservation Board and relevant con-

servation boards to consider the statement of Ngāti Mākino values and the protection principles when making decisions in relation to conservation documents, to give the trustees the opportunity to make submissions on draft conservation management strategies that relate to the whenua rāhui site, and to enable the Minister of Conservation, the Director-General of Conservation, and the Governor-General (as applicable) to take action under *clauses 47 to 50*.

Subpart 4—The Crown not prevented from providing other similar redress

Clause 56 provides that the cultural redress provided under *subparts* 1 (protocols), 2 (statutory acknowledgement and deed of recognition), and 3 (whenua rāhui) does not prevent the Crown from providing similar redress to other iwi or groups.

Subpart 5—Cultural redress properties

Clause 57 lists the cultural redress properties and defines a number of terms used in *Part 2*.

Site that vests in fee simple subject to easement

Clause 58 provides for Te Kōhanga site to cease to be a conservation area and vests it in fee simple in the trustees, subject to the trustees and the Crown providing each other with registrable right of way easements over specified routes. The easement provided to the Crown is to be an easement in gross.

Clause 59 sets out conditions on the use and management of Te Kōhanga site.

Clause 60 provides for a beehive permit granted by the Minister of Conservation to continue as if it had been granted by the trustees by contract

Clause 61 provides for the income the trustees receive from Te Kōhanga site to be used for conservation purposes in relation to the other cultural redress properties.

Site that vests in fee simple subject to conservation covenant

Clause 62 revokes the status of the Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa site as a conservation area and vests the fee simple estate in the site in the trustees subject to the trustees providing the Crown with a registrable conservation covenant over the site.

Sites that vest in fee simple to be administered as reserves

Clauses 63 and 64 revoke the reserve status of the Lake Rotoehu Scenic Reserve site and the Balance of Matawhāura site, vest the fee simple estate in the sites in the trustees, and declare them to be scenic reserves.

Clauses 65 and 66 revoke the status of Ngā Pōrōtai-o-Waitaha-a-Hei site and the Rotoehu Forest Central Wānanga site as conservation areas, vest the fee simple estate in the sites in the trustees, and declare the sites to be a scenic reserve and a conservation and education reserve respectively. The Minister of Conservation must provide the trustees with registrable right of way easements over conservation land to provide for access to the 2 sites.

Clause 67 empowers the Minister of Conservation to grant the easements required by clauses 58, 65, and 66.

Subpart 6—General provisions relating to vesting of cultural redress properties

Clauses 68 to 76 contain technical provisions to facilitate the vesting of the cultural redress properties.

Subpart 7—Names of reserves and conservation areas

Clause 77 provides for the names assigned to the cultural redress properties to replace any official name for the properties.

Subpart 8—Moutoroi Pā site

Clause 78 vests the fee simple estate in the Moutoroi Pā site in the trustees.

Part 3 Commercial redress

Subpart 1—Transfer of licensed land and Ōtamarākau School site

Clauses 79 to 83 provide for the transfer to the trustees of the licensed land and the Ōtamarākau School site and provide for the creation of computer freehold registers for the properties and for related matters.

Subpart 2—Licensed land

Clauses 84 to 90 contain technical provisions to facilitate the transfer of the licensed land in fee simple to the trustees. The licensed land ceases to be Crown forest land once the transfer is registered. Clause 85 requires the responsible Ministers under the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989 to vary the protective covenant over the Waitahanui Stream by cancelling the covenant to the extent that it relates to a certain part of the stream and surrounding area.

Subpart 3—Access to protected site

Clause 91 defines protected site.

Clauses 92 to 94 require the owner of land where a protected site is situated to allow access across the land to the site to Māori for whom the site has significance.

Subpart 4—Trustees' right of first refusal in relation to RFR land

Clause 95 defines terms that relate to this subpart.

Clause 96 defines RFR land.

Clauses 97 to 112 provide for the trustees to have a right of first refusal (RFR) for 100 years in relation to the disposal of certain pieces of conservation land listed in attachment 5 of the deed of settlement. The owner of RFR land (which may be the Crown, a Crown body, or a local authority) must not dispose of the land other than to the trustees (or the nominee of the trustees) without first offering it to the trustees on the same terms as or better terms than for that other disposal, unless a specified exemption applies. There are specific exemptions for disposal of the RFR land to the Crown or a Crown body

or of public works to a local authority. In these 2 cases, the RFR land remains RFR land after disposal and the Crown, the Crown body, or the local authority becomes the RFR landowner. There are further specific exemptions for disposal—

- in accordance with an enactment or rule of law:
- in accordance with a legal or an equitable obligation:
- in accordance with specified provisions of the Land Act 1948 (sale of land to adjacent owner), Resource Management Act 1991 (reclaimed land of river or lake), and the Marine and Coastal Area (Takutai Moana) Act 2011 (reclaimed coastal land):
- in accordance with specified provisions of the Public Works Act 1981 and the New Zealand Railways Corporation Restructuring Act 1990:
- for certain reserve and conservation purposes:
- for charitable purposes:
- to a tenant of land held for education purposes or by lease or licence to an existing lessee or licensee of the land.

RFR landowner's obligations

Clause 113 provides that the RFR landowner's obligations under the RFR provisions of the Bill are subject to any other enactment or rule of law, and any encumbrance, legal or equitable obligation, or the terms of a mortgage or security interest.

Notices

Clauses 114 to 117 set out the obligations of the RFR landowner to notify the chief executive of LINZ and the trustees of certain matters.

Memorials for RFR land

Clauses 118 to 120 require memorials to be recorded on the computer register for RFR land to the effect that the land is RFR land and subject to the restrictions in *subpart 4 of Part 3*. Memorials are to be removed when the land is transferred and ceases to be RFR land or when the RFR period (100 years) ends.

General provisions

Clause 121 allows the trustees to waive any or all of their rights in relation to the RFR landowner. The landowner may waive its rights only with the agreement of the trustees.

Clause 122 provides that subpart 4 of Part 3 does not limit the Crown's ability or the ability of a Crown body to sell or dispose of a Crown body.

Hon Christopher Finlayson

Ngāti Mākino Claims Settlement Bill

Government Bill

Contents

		Page
	Preamble	7
1	Title	9
2	Commencement	9
	Part 1	
	Purpose, acknowledgements, interpretation provisions, settlement of historical claims, and miscellaneous matters	
	Subpart 1—Purpose and acknowledgements	
3	Purpose	9
4	Act binds the Crown	9 9 9
5	Outline	9
6	The Crown's acknowledgements	11
	Subpart 2—Interpretation	
7	Interpretation generally	14
8	Interpretation	14
9	Meaning of Ngāti Mākino	21
10	Meaning of historical claims	22
	Subpart 3—Settlement of historical claims Historical claims settled and jurisdiction of courts, etc, removed	
11	Settlement of historical claims final	23

	Consequential amendment to Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975	
12	Amendment to Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975	23
	Protections no longer apply	
13	Certain enactments do not apply	24
14	Removal of memorials	24
	Subpart 4—Miscellaneous matters	
	Perpetuities	
15	Rule against perpetuities does not apply	25
	Timing of actions or matters	
16	Timing of actions or matters	25
	Access to deed of settlement	
17	Access to deed of settlement	26
	Part 2	
	Cultural redress	
	Subpart 1—Protocols	
	General provisions	
18	Authority to issue, amend, or cancel protocols	26
19	Protocol subject to rights, functions, and obligations	27
20	Enforceability of protocol	27
	Taonga tūturu protocol	
21	Effect of taonga tūturu protocol	27
	Crown minerals protocol	
22	Noting and effect of Crown minerals protocol	28
	Subpart 2—Statutory acknowledgement and deed of	
	recognition	
	Statutory acknowledgement	
23	Statutory acknowledgement by the Crown	28
24	Purposes of statutory acknowledgement	28
25	Relevant consent authorities to have regard to statutory	29
26	acknowledgement Environment Court to have regard to statutory	29
20	acknowledgement	29
27	Historic Places Trust and Environment Court to have	30
	regard to statutory acknowledgement	
28	Recording statutory acknowledgement on statutory plans	30
29	Distribution of resource consent applications to trustees	31
30	Use of statutory acknowledgement	31

31	Trustees may waive rights	32
	Deed of recognition	
32	Authorisation to enter into deed of recognition	33
	General provisions	
33	Exercise or performance of powers, duties, and functions	33
34	Rights not affected	33
35	Limitation of rights	34
	Consequential amendment to Resource Management Act 1991	
36	Amendment to Resource Management Act 1991	34
	Subpart 3—Whenua rāhui	
37	Interpretation	34
38	Declaration of whenua rāhui of Ngāti Mākino	35
39	The Crown's acknowledgement of Ngāti Mākino values	35
40	Purposes of whenua rāhui	35
41	Agreement on protection principles	35
42	Duties of New Zealand Conservation Authority and	36
	conservation boards in relation to Ngāti Mākino values	
	and protection principles	
43	New Zealand Conservation Authority and conservation	36
	boards to consult trustees	
44	Opportunity to make submissions on draft conservation	37
	management strategy	
45	Noting of whenua rāhui	37
46	Notification of actions in <i>Gazette</i>	37
47	Actions by Director-General	38
48	Amendment of conservation documents	38
49	Regulations	39
50	Bylaws	39
51	Existing classification of whenua rāhui site	39
52	Termination of whenua rāhui	40
53	Exercise of powers, functions, and duties	40
54	Rights not affected	41
55	Limitation of rights	41
	Subpart 4—The Crown not prevented from providing other similar redress	
56	The Crown not prevented from providing other similar redress	41

	Subpart 5—Cultural redress properties	
57	Interpretation	42
	Site that vests in fee simple subject to easement	
58		43
58 59	Te Kōhanga site Conditions on use and management of Te Kōhanga site	43
60	Transfer of beehive permit	44
61	Application of income from Te Kōhanga site	44
	Site that vests in fee simple subject to conservation covenant	
62	Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa site	45
	Sites that vest in fee simple to be administered as reserves	
63	Lake Rotoehu Scenic Reserve site	45
64	Balance of Matawhāura site	46
65	Ngā Pōrōtai-o-Waitaha-a-Hei site	46
66	Rotoehu Forest Central Wananga site	46
67	Easements over conservation land	47
	Subpart 6—General provisions relating to vesting of cultural redress properties	
68	Properties vest subject to, or together with, encumbrances and permits	47
69	Registration of ownership	48
70	Application of Part 4A of Conservation Act 1987	48
71	Recording application of Part 4A of Conservation Act 1987 and sections of this Part	49
72	Application of other enactments	50
	Provisions relating to reserve sites	
73	Application of Reserves Act 1977 to reserve sites	51
74	Subsequent transfer of reserve land	51
75	Trustees must not mortgage reserves	53
76	Saving of bylaws, etc, in relation to reserve sites	53
	Subpart 7—Names of reserves and conservation areas	
77	New reserve names	53
	Subpart 8—Moutoroi Pā site	
78	Moutoroi Pā	54

Part 3 Commercial redress Subpart 1—Transfer of licensed land and Ōtamarākau School site 79 Transfer of licensed land and Ōtamarākau School site to 54 Ngāti Mākino 80 Registrar-General to create computer freehold register for 55 Ōtamarākau School site 81 Registrar-General to create computer freehold register for 55 licensed land Authorised person may grant covenant for later creation 82 56 of computer freehold register 83 Application of other enactments 56 Subpart 2—Licensed land 84 Licensed land ceases to be Crown forest land 57 Cancellation of protective covenant over part of 85 57 Waitahanui Stream 86 Trustees confirmed beneficiaries and licensors in relation 58 to licensed land Effect of transfer of licensed land 87 58 88 Minister of Conservation may grant easements 59 Public access to licensed land 89 59 90 Public right of way easement may be granted 60 Subpart 3—Access to protected site Meaning of protected site 91 60 92 Right of access to protected site 60 93 Right of access subject to Crown forestry licence 61 Registrar-General must note right of access 94 61 Subpart 4—Trustees' right of first refusal in relation to RFR land Interpretation 95 Interpretation 62 96 Meaning of RFR land 63 Restrictions on disposal of RFR land Restrictions on disposal of RFR land 97 63 Trustees' right of first refusal 98 Requirements for offer 64 99 Expiry date of offer 64 Withdrawal of offer 100 64

101	Acceptance of offer	65
102	Formation of contract	65
	Disposal if land remains RFR land	
103	Disposal to the Crown or Crown bodies	65
104	Disposal of existing public works to local authority	66
105	Disposal of reserves to administering bodies	66
	Disposal if land may cease to be RFR land	
106	Disposal in accordance with enactment or rule of law	66
107	Disposal in accordance with legal or equitable obligation	66
108	Disposal by the Crown under certain legislation	67
109	Disposal of land held for public works	67
110	Disposals for reserve or conservation purposes	67
111	Disposals for charitable purposes	68
112	Disposals to tenants	68
	RFR landowner's obligations	
113	RFR landowner's obligations under this subpart	68
	Notices	
114	Notice of RFR land with computer register after settlement date	69
115	Notice to trustees of disposal of RFR land to others	69
116	Notice of land ceasing to be RFR land	69
117	Notice requirements	70
	Memorials for RFR land	
118	Recording memorials on computer registers for RFR land	70
119	Removal of memorials when land to be transferred or vested	71
120	Removal of memorials when RFR period ends	72
	General provisions	
121	Waiver and variation	72
122	Disposal of Crown bodies not affected	72
	Schedule 1	73
	Statutory area and whenua rāhui area	
	Schedule 2 Cultural redress properties	74
	Schedule 3	77
	Schedule 3 Moutoroi Pā	77

Schedule 4 Notices relating to RFR land

78

Preamble

Summary of Ngāti Mākino historical account

(1) Ngāti Mākino are part of the Te Arawa confederation of tribes and have strong connections to Ngāti Awa. Traditionally, they occupied the area between the Rotorua lakes and the Bay of Plenty coast where they existed as an independent iwi:

5

Ngāti Mākino did not sign the Treaty of Waitangi, but during (2) the 1840s and 1850s they dwelt peacefully with the few settlers in their rohe. The Crown gradually increased its presence in the Bay of Plenty from 1842 but applied little pressure on local Māori to sell their lands and customary law largely continued 10 to prevail:

(3) The war between the Crown and the Kīngitanga in the Waikato in 1863 brought an extended period of tension to the Bay of Plenty. The need to choose between support for the Crown, degrees of armed neutrality, and support for the Kingitanga split Ngāti Mākino internally. At Kaokaoroa in 1864, Ngāti Mākino helped fight off a Kingite taua from the east coast. Not long afterwards, again seeking to keep hostilities from their territory, Ngāti Mākino battled Crown forces at Te Ranga, near Tauranga:

20

A new round of conflict began in 1865 when the Crown (4) sought those responsible for the murders of a Crown official and others. Ngāti Mākino played no part in the killings. As a consequence of the conflict, the Crown deemed that certain tribes had been in rebellion and confiscated approximately 448 000 acres of land in the eastern Bay of Plenty under the New Zealand Settlements Act 1863. While the confiscation was not directed specifically at them, all Ngāti Mākino were affected:

25

(5) The Crown established a Compensation Court to return land to those who had not been in rebellion. Ngāti Mākino were among those awarded land by the court but some Ngāti

Mākino were deemed to be rebels and were excluded from ownership. The court, moreover, returned land in a form inconsistent with customary tenure:

- (6) Ngāti Mākino's tribal system was further undermined by the operation of the native land laws introduced by the Crown in 5 the 1860s. These laws established the Native Land Court to convert customary title into individual title derived from the Crown. Customary tenure was generally communal and accommodated multiple and overlapping interests to the same land, but Ngāti Mākino had no alternative but to use the court if they wished to secure legal title to their lands and participate in the new economy. The court, however, caused so much unrest amongst Bay of Plenty iwi that the Crown was forced to suspend its operations for several years:
- Ngāti Mākino preferred to lease their lands to private parties (7) but by the mid-1880s the Crown had bought the majority of Ngāti Mākino's lands. In securing title to their lands, Ngāti Mākino incurred heavy survey costs. The Crown emphasised the size of survey debts and wrongly let Ngāti Mākino believe that interest was accruing on them. The Crown also improp- 20 erly prevented Ngāti Mākino from selling land to private parties:
- (8) By 1900, Ngāti Mākino were virtually landless. Nonetheless, in the early twentieth century the Crown compulsorily acquired further Ngāti Mākino land for public works and 25 to establish scenic reserves. Private parties continued to purchase what little land remained, including the majority of Ngāti Mākino's Ōtamarākau and Whakarewa reserves, both of which were originally awarded with inalienable titles. In the 1920s, the Crown introduced schemes to consolidate and 30 develop fragmented Māori land-holdings, but Ngāti Mākino possessed insufficient land to participate or benefit from them as Ngāti Mākino. By 1992, only 0.6% of the combined area of the 3 major blocks in which Ngāti Mākino had interests remained in the hands of the iwi:
- (9) From the 1940s, many Ngāti Mākino moved to forestry settlements looking for work to alleviate poverty and develop new skills. The Crown encouraged this migration and the forest industry became an important part of the economic well-being of

Ngāti Mākino. However, the Forest Service was restructured
in the 1980s, causing extensive unemployment and disloca-
tion amongst communities who relied on the forest industry,
including Ngāti Mākino:

The Parliament of New Zealand therefore enacts as follows:	The	Parliament	of New Zealand	l therefore	enacts as follows:
--	-----	------------	----------------	-------------	--------------------

1 Title

This Act is the Ngāti Mākino Claims Settlement Act 2011.

2 Commencement

This Act comes into force on the day after the date on which it receives the Royal assent.

Purpose, acknowledgements, interpretation provisions, settlement of historical claims, and miscellaneous

Part 1

matters

15

20

10

5

Subpart 1—Purpose and acknowledgements

3 Purpose

The purpose of this Act is to give effect to certain provisions of the deed of settlement, which is a deed to settle the historical claims of Ngāti Mākino.

4 Act binds the Crown

This Act binds the Crown.

5 Outline

- This section is a guide to the overall scheme and effect of this
 Act, but does not affect the interpretation or application of this
 Act or of the deed of settlement.
- (2) This Part—
 - (a) sets out the purpose of this Act and specifies that it binds the Crown; and
 - (b) sets out the Crown's acknowledgements to Ngāti 30 Mākino; and

	(c)	lefines terms used in this Act, including key terms such s Ngāti Mākino and historical claims; and
	(d)	provides that the settlement of the historical claims is inal; and
	(e)	provides for— 5
	(0)	i) the effect of the settlement on the jurisdiction of a court, tribunal, or other judicial body in respect of the historical claims; and
		ii) consequential amendments to the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975; and
		iii) the effect of the settlement on certain memorials; and
		iv) the exclusion of the law against perpetuities, the timing of actions or matters provided for in this Act, and access to the deed of settlement.
(3)	Part :	provides for cultural redress, including—
	(a)	Arts, Culture and Heritage and the Minister of Energy and Resources; and
	(b)	an acknowledgement by the Crown of the statements 20 nade by Ngāti Mākino of their cultural, spiritual, hisorical, and traditional association with 2 statutory areas and the effect of that acknowledgement; and
	(c)	deed of recognition between the Crown and the rustees; and
	(d)	he vesting in the trustees of the fee simple estate in 6 ultural redress properties; and
	(e)	he vesting in the trustees of the fee simple estate in the Moutoroi Pā site.
(4)	Part :	provides for commercial redress, including— 30
	(a)	he transfer of the licensed land and the Ōtamarākau School site to the trustees; and
	(b)	he creation of computer registers, and the effect of egistration, in relation to the licensed land and the Ōtanarākau School site; and
	(c)	he application of other enactments in relation to the ransfer of the licensed land and the Ōtamarākau School ite; and

10

(d)	a right of first refusal in relation to RFR land that may
	be exercised by the trustees.

- (5) There are 4 schedules that—
 - (a) describe the 2 statutory areas and the whenua rāhui site to which the statutory acknowledgement and whenua 5 rāhui relate, respectively:
 - (b) describe the 6 cultural redress properties:
 - (c) describe the Moutoroi Pā site:
 - (d) set out provisions that apply to notices given in relation to RFR land.

6 The Crown's acknowledgements

- (1) The Crown acknowledges that the people of Ngāti Mākino have long sought redress for their grievances, and that the Crown's withdrawal from earlier negotiations and the subsequent delay in settlement had a detrimental effect on Ngāti Mākino. The Crown hereby recognises the legitimacy of the historical grievances of Ngāti Mākino and makes the following acknowledgements.
- (2) The Crown acknowledges that when it despatched troops to the Bay of Plenty in 1864, following the outbreak of hostilities 20 in the Waikato, Ngāti Mākino were drawn into the war and forced to choose between different allegiances. This split the iwi and pitted individuals and hapū against one another.
- (3) The Crown acknowledges that Ngāti Mākino suffered loss of life at the hands of Crown forces in the battle of Te Ranga in 25 1864.
- (4) The Crown acknowledges that the confiscation in the eastern Bay of Plenty in 1866—
 - (a) included some of Ngāti Mākino's land; and
 - (b) affected all Ngāti Mākino, even those who had not been 30 in conflict with the Crown; and
 - (c) compulsorily extinguished customary title in the confiscation district; and
 - (d) alienated land from those Ngāti Mākino the Crown deemed to be rebels; and
 - (e) was, in its effects on Ngāti Mākino, unjust, indiscriminate, and a breach of the Treaty of Waitangi and its principles.

(5)	The C	Crown acknowledges that—	
	(a)	the Compensation Court awarded land to individuals rather than iwi or hapū, which was not consistent with customary tenure. This system was imposed on Ngāti Mākino; and	5
	(b)	because some members of the iwi had been identified as rebels, Ngāti Mākino were forced to rely upon links to other iwi in their claims to the Compensation Court.	
(6)	The C	Crown acknowledges that—	
	(a)	Ngāti Mākino sought to retain authority over the determination of the ownership of their land; and	10
	(b)	Ngāti Mākino's tribal structure was based on collective tribal and hapū custodianship of land; and	
	(c)	the native land laws were enacted, in part, to facilitate the opening up of Māori land to Pākehā settlement. It was expected that Māori would abandon their tribal and communal structures as a result of the new system; and	15
	(d)	the Native Land Court awarded land to individual Ngāti Mākino rather than to iwi or hapū, and that this made those lands more susceptible to alienation; and	20
	(e)	the Crown failed to provide an effective form of corporate title until 1894. Such a title would have enabled Ngāti Mākino to exercise control over their land collectively, but by 1894 all Ngāti Mākino lands were held under individualised titles.	25
(7)	to the struct that it	Crown acknowledges that the native land laws contributed erosion of the mana, rangatiratanga, and traditional tribal ures of Ngāti Mākino. The Crown also acknowledges is failure to provide an effective means in the native land	
		ation for the collective administration of Ngāti Mākino until 1894 was a breach of the Treaty of Waitangi.	30
(8)	The C (a) (b)	Crown acknowledges that— by seeking to lease rather than sell land, Ngāti Mākino aimed to develop and retain their lands; and the Crown undermined these efforts and applied pressure on Ngāti Mākino to sell by—	35
		(i) leading Ngāti Mākino to believe wrongly that interest was accruing on survey debts; and	

- (ii) improperly using the Native Land Purchases Act 1877 to prevent private parties entering lease or sale negotiations with Ngāti Mākino in relation to the Tāhunaroa block; and as a result, Ngāti Mākino felt they had no option other 5 than to sell land to the Crown; and between 1873 and 1900, 82 000 acres of Ngāti Mākino
- (d) between 1873 and 1900, 82 000 acres of Ngāti Mākino land was alienated. Only 3.6% of the Waitahanui, Tāhunaroa and Whakarewa blocks remained in Ngāti Mākino hands by the end of the nineteenth century; and
- (e) accordingly, the Crown failed to protect actively the interests of Ngāti Mākino in the land it wished to retain. This was a breach of the Treaty of Waitangi and its principles.
- (9) The Crown acknowledges that Ngāti Mākino experienced further land loss during the twentieth century through purchases by private parties, and takings by the Crown for public works, including a parcel taken for railway purposes that cut the Ōtamarākau marae off from the sea.
- (10) The Crown acknowledges that it compulsorily acquired Ngāti 20 Mākino land to establish scenic reserves. In this context, Ngāti Mākino were left little option but to gift land to the Crown if they were to have any control over which land was to be alienated and how that land was to be managed.
- (11) The Crown acknowledges that—

(c)

- (a) the cumulative effect of its actions rendered Ngāti Mākino virtually landless by 1900; and
- (b) Ngāti Mākino were therefore left with insufficient land to participate in, or benefit from, the development and consolidation schemes initiated from the 1920s; and
- (c) by 1992, only 0.6% of the Waitahanui, Tāhunaroa and Whakarewa blocks remained in Ngāti Mākino's hands; and
- (d) the lands formerly in Ngāti Mākino's possession have contributed to the wealth and development of New 35 Zealand, while Ngāti Mākino have been deprived of the benefits of those lands; and
- (e) Ngāti Mākino's physical, cultural, and spiritual wellbeing was compromised by the loss of their land and that

25

this suffering and hardship has continued to the present

	day; and	
	(f) the Crown's failure to ensure that Ngāti Mākino were left with sufficient land for their present and future needs was a breach of the Treaty of Waitangi and its principles.	5
(12)	Through these acts, the Crown, its Ministers, and government departments have dishonoured the Treaty of Waitangi, its principles, and its spirit, denigrating te mana motuhake o Ngāti Mākino. In so doing, the Crown acknowledges that it has brought dishonour upon itself.	10
	It now falls time for these grievances to be lifted. It is the desire of the Crown to build a foundation of trust and commitment, so that Ngāti Mākino and the Crown can work together to revitalise te rangatiratanga o Ngāti Mākino.	15
	Na ēnei mahinga kino a te Karauna, ōna Minita me ngā Tari Kāwanatanga kua takakinotia te Tiriti o Waitangi, tōna Mauri, tōna Wairua me te mahi whakaiti i te mana motuhake o Ngāti Mākino. Na runga i tēna, e whakaae atu ana na te Karauna ano a ia i māteatea.	20
	Kua eke ki te wā kia hikitia ake i ēnei mamae. Ko tā te Karauna ko te hanga i te tūāpapa i runga i te pono, i te tika me te whakawhirinaki atu a tētahi ki tētahi kia mahitahi ai te Karauna me Ngāti Mākino i runga i te wairua o te kotahitanga, kia tutuki ai kia mana ai te rangatiratanga o Ngāti Mākino.	25
	Subpart 2—Interpretation	
7	Interpretation generally It is the intention of Parliament that the provisions of this Act are interpreted in a manner that best furthers the agreements expressed in the deed of settlement.	30
8	Interpretation In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires.—	

administering body has the meaning given in section 2(1) of

35

the Reserves Act 1977

affec	ted person has the meaning given in section 2AA(2) of		
the R	esource Management Act 1991		
autho	orised person,—		
(a)	in respect of a cultural redress property, has the meaning		
	given in section 69(7); and	5	
(b)	in respect of the licensed land and the Ōtamarākau		
	School site, has the meaning given in section 80(3)		
	or 94(4), as the case requires		
	ness day means a day of the week other than—	1.0	
(a)	Saturday, Sunday, Waitangi Day, Good Friday, Easter	10	
	Monday, Anzac Day, the Sovereign's birthday, and		
(b)	Labour Day; and		
(b)	a day in the period commencing with 25 December in any year and ending with the close of 15 January in the		
	following year; and	15	
(c)	the day observed as the anniversary of the province of	13	
(0)	Wellington; and		
(d)	the day observed as the anniversary of the province of		
` '	Auckland, being the day that is locally observed in the		
	Bay of Plenty as its anniversary	20	
conce	ession has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the Con-		
servation Act 1987			
conse	ent authority has the meaning given in section 2(1) of		
the R	esource Management Act 1991		
contr	ol, for the purposes of paragraph (d) of the definition	25	
of Cr	own body, means,—		
(a)	in relation to a company, control of the composition of		
	the company's board of directors; and		
(b)	in relation to another body, control of the composition	20	
	of the group that would be the body's board of directors	30	
•	if the body were a company		
	vn has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the Public		
	nce Act 1989		
	vn body means—	25	
(a)	a Crown entity (as defined in section 7(1) of the Crown	35	
(b)	Entities Act 2004); and a State enterprise (as defined in section 2 of the State-		
(0)	Owned Enterprises Act 1986); and		
	r		

(c) (d)	the New Zealand Railways Corporation; and a company or body that is wholly owned or controlled by any 1 or more of the following:	
	(i) the Crown:	
	(ii) a Crown entity:	5
	(iii) a State enterprise:	
	(iv) the New Zealand Railways Corporation; and	
(e)	a subsidiary, or related company, of a company or body	
	referred to in paragraph (d)	
	vn forest land has the meaning given in section 2(1) of frown Forest Assets Act 1989	10
Crov	vn forestry licence—	
(a)	has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989; and	
(b)	in relation to the licensed land, means the licence held in computer register SA58A/550	15
on 30	on forestry rental trust deed means the trust deed made April 1990 establishing the Crown forestry rental trust resection 34 of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989	
Crov	vn mineral means a mineral as defined in section 2(1) of	20
	rown Minerals Act 1991—	
(a)	that is the property of the Crown under section 10 or 11 of the Crown Minerals Act 1991; or	
(b)	over which the Crown has jurisdiction under the Continental Shelf Act 1964	25
Crown minerals protocol means a protocol issued by the		
	ster of Energy and Resources under section 18(1)(a) , ncludes any amendments made under section 18(1)(b)	
Crov	vn minerals protocol area means the area shown on the	
map	attached to the Crown minerals protocol	30
cultu 57	ral redress property has the meaning given in section	
date	of the deed of settlement means 2 April 2011	
	of recognition means the deed issued by the Crown to	
	rustees under section 32	35
deed	of settlement and deed—	
(a)	mean the deed of settlement dated 2 April 2011 and signed by—	

	(i)	the Minister for Treaty of Waitangi Negotiations, the Honourable Christopher Finlayson, and the Minister of Finance, the Honourable Simon William English, on behalf of the Crown; and	
	(ii)	Te Ariki Morehu, Awhi Awhimate, Neville Nepia, Hilda Sykes, Tohu Ripeka Te Whata, Heneri Ngatai, Hare Wiremu, and Laurence Tamati as trustees of Ngāti Mākino Iwi Authority; and	5
(b)	includ	• •	10
	(i)	the general matters schedule, the property redress schedule, the documents schedule, and any at- tachments to the deed; and	
	(ii)	any amendments to the deed, its schedules, or its attachments	15
		neans a deed plan in Part 2 of the attachments to	
		settlement that generally indicates the location of cred to in this Act	
tion		eneral means the Director-General of Conserva-	20
		schedule means the schedule of that name that f the deed of settlement	
effect ment		te means the date that is 6 months after the settle-	
cupy, a prop	easem erty	ce means a lease, tenancy, licence, licence to oc- ent, covenant, or other right or obligation affecting	25
		tters schedule means the schedule of that name art of the deed of settlement	
Trust		ices Trust means the New Zealand Historic Places ere Taonga) continued by section 38 of the Historic 1993	30
		aims has the meaning given in section 10	
		g agency, in relation to—	
(a)		ural redress property, means the Department of ervation:	35
(b)	the lic	censed land, means LINZ:	

(c)	Otamarakau School site, means the Ministry of Education:					
(d)	the Moutoroi Pā site, means LINZ					
	sed lar					
(a)			and described as licensed land in Part 3 of	5		
the property redress schedule; but						
(b)	1 1 .					
	(i)	all tre	ees growing, standing, or lying on the land;			
		and				
	(ii)		nprovements that have been—	10		
		(A)	acquired by a purchaser of the trees on that land; or			
		(B)	made, after the acquisition of the trees, by the purchaser or the licensee			
	see me n fores		e registered holder for the time being of the	15		
		•	e licensor for the time being of the Crown			
	try lice		o notable for the time of the of the officer			
	•		d Information New Zealand			
local	autho	rity ha	as the meaning given in section 5(1) of the	20		
		•	t Act 2002			
mem	ber of	Ngāti	Mākino means an individual referred to in			
secti	ion 9(1	I)(a)				
Mou	toroi P	ā site	has the meaning given in section 78(1)			
area t	hat Ng	gāti Mā	ea of interest and area of interest mean the akino identifies as its area of interest, as set attachments to the deed of settlement	25		
Ngāt	i Māk	ino Iv	vi Authority means the trust established			
-			rust of Ngāti Mākino Iwi Authority dated			
23 M	arch 2	011		30		
Ngāt	i Māki	no val	lues has the meaning given in section 37			
			iool site means the land described by that the property redress schedule			
Ōtan	narāka	u Sch	ool site settlement date means the date on			
which settlement of the Ōtamarākau School site takes place in 35						
accor	dance	with p	aragraph 5.7 of the property redress sched-			
ule						

	erty redress schedule means the schedule of that name forms part of the deed of settlement		
	ected site has the meaning given in section 91		
-	ection principles has the meaning given in section 37		
-		_	
-	ocol means a protocol issued under section 18(1)(a), inng any amendments made under section 18(1)(b)	5	
regio	nal council has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the		
Resou	urce Management Act 1991		
	strar-General means the Registrar-General of Land aped under section 4 of the Land Transfer Act 1952	10	
relate	ed company has the meaning given in section 2(3) of the		
	panies Act 1993		
relev	ant consent authority, in relation to a statutory area,		
mean	s a consent authority of a region or district that contains,		
or is	adjacent to, the statutory area	15	
repre	esentative entity means—		
(a)	the trustees; and		
(b) any person (including any trustees) acting for, or o			
	behalf of,—		
	(i) the collective group referred to in section 9 ; or	20	
	(ii) 1 or more of the whānau, hapū, or groups that together form that collective group; or		
	(iii) 1 or more members of Ngāti Mākino		
reser	ve land has the meaning given in section 74(1)		
reser	ve site has the meaning given in section 57	25	
resou	irce consent has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the		
Resou	urce Management Act 1991		
respo	onsible department means,—		
(a)	for a taonga tūturu protocol, the Ministry for Culture		
	and Heritage:	30	
(b)	for a Crown minerals protocol, the Ministry of Economic Development:		
(c)	any other department of State authorised by the Prime		
	Minister to exercise powers or perform functions and		
	duties under subpart 1 of Part 2	35	

responsible Minister means	,—
----------------------------	----

- (a) for a taonga tūturu protocol, the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage:
- (b) for a Crown minerals protocol, the Minister of Energy and Resources:
- (c) any other Minister of the Crown authorised by the Prime Minister to exercise powers and perform functions and duties under **subpart 1 of Part 2**

RFR land has the meaning given in section 96

settlement date means the date that is 20 business days after 10 the date on which this Act comes into force

statements of association has the meaning given in section 23(2)

statutory acknowledgement means the acknowledgement made by the Crown in **section 23(1)** in respect of each 15 statutory area, on the terms set out in **subpart 2 of Part 2**

statutory area means an area described as a statutory area in **Schedule 1**, the general location of which is indicated in yellow on the deed plan referred to in relation to that area in that schedule (although the deed plan does not establish the precise boundaries of the statutory area)

statutory plan—

- (a) means a district plan, regional coastal plan, regional plan, regional policy statement, or proposed policy statement as defined in section 43AA of the Resource 25 Management Act 1991; and
- (b) includes a proposed plan as defined in section 43AAC of the Resource Management Act 1991

subsidiary has the meaning given in section 5 of the Companies Act 1993

taonga tūturu—

- (a) has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the Protected Objects Act 1975; and
- (b) includes ngā taonga tūturu (which has the meaning given in section 2(1) of that Act)

35

taonga tūturu protocol means a protocol issued by the Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage under section 18(1)(a),

and includes any amendments made to the protocol under sec-

	tion	18(1)(b)				
	trus	tees means the trustees of the Ngāti Mākino Iwi Authority				
	whe	nua rāhui has the meaning given in section 37(1)				
	whe	nua rāhui site has the meaning given in section 37(2).	5			
9	Mea	ning of Ngāti Mākino				
(1)	In th	is Act, Ngāti Mākino means—				
	(a)	the collective group composed of individuals who are descended from a tipuna of Ngāti Mākino; and				
	(b)	includes those individuals; and	10			
	(c)	includes any whānau, hapū, or group to the extent that it is composed of those individuals.				
(2)	In th	is section,—				
	tikan	omary rights means rights according to Ngāti Mākino aga (Ngāti Mākino customary values and practices), in-	15			
	cludi (a)	e				
	(a) (b)	rights to occupy land; and rights in relation to the use of land or other natural or physical resources				
	desc	ended means that a person is descended from another per-	20			
		son by—				
	(a)	birth; or				
	(b)	legal adoption; or				
	(c)	Māori customary adoption in accordance with the tikanga (customary values and practices) of Ngāti Mākino	25			
	tipu	na of Ngāti Mākino means an individual—				
	(a)	who exercised customary rights by virtue of being descended from all of—	20			
		(i) Hei: (ii) Waitaha:	30			
	(1.)	(iii) Mākino II; and				
	(b)	who exercised the customary rights predominantly in relation to the Ngāti Mākino area of interest at any time after 6 February 1840.	35			

10	Mea	Meaning of historical claims			
(1)	In th	In this Act, historical claims—			
	(a)	means the claims described in subsection (2) ; and			
	(b)	includes the claims described in subsection (3) ; but			
	(c)	does not include the claims described in subsection	5		
		(4) .			
(2)	The l	historical claims are every claim (whether or not the claim			
	has a	risen or been considered, researched, notified, or made by			
	or on	the settlement date) that Ngāti Mākino (or a representa-			
	tive e	entity) had on or before the settlement date, or may have	10		
	after	the settlement date, and that—			
	(a)	is, or is founded on, a right arising—			
		(i) from the Treaty of Waitangi or its principles; or			
		(ii) under legislation; or			
		(iii) at common law (including aboriginal title or cus-	15		
		tomary law); or			
		(iv) from fiduciary duty; or			
		(v) otherwise; and			
	(b)	arises from, or relates to, acts or omissions before			
		21 September 1992—	20		
		(i) by, or on behalf of, the Crown; or			
		(ii) by or under legislation.			
(3)	The l	historical claims include—			
	(a)	every claim to the Waitangi Tribunal to which subsec-			
		tion (2) applies that relates exclusively to Ngāti Mākino	25		
		or a representative entity, including—			
		(i) Wai 275—Tāhunaroa and Waitahanui Blocks			
		claim; and			
		(ii) Wai 334—Matata land claim; and			
	(b)	every other claim to the Waitangi Tribunal to which	30		
		subsection (2) applies, so far as it relates to Ngāti			
		Mākino (or a representative entity).			
(4)	How	ever, historical claims does not include—			
	(a)	a claim that a member of Ngāti Mākino, or a whānau,			
		hapū, or group referred to in section 9(1)(c), had or	35		
		may have that is, or is founded on, a right arising as a			
		result of being descended from an ancestor who is not			
		referred to in section 9(1)(a); or			

(b) a claim that a representative entity had or may have to the extent that it is founded on a claim referred to in paragraph (a).

Subpart 3—Settlement of historical claims

Historical claims settled and jurisdiction of courts, etc. removed

5

Settlement of historical claims final 11

- The historical claims are settled. (1)
- The settlement of the historical claims is final and, on and from (2) the settlement date, the Crown is released and discharged from 10 all obligations and liabilities in respect of those claims.

Subsections (1) and (2) do not limit the acknowledgements (3) expressed in, or the provisions of, the deed of settlement.

- **(4)** Despite any other enactment or rule of law, on and from the settlement date, no court, tribunal, or other judicial body has jurisdiction (including, without limitation, the jurisdiction to inquire or further inquire into, or to make a finding or recommendation) in respect of
 - the historical claims; or (a)
 - (b) the deed of settlement; or

20

- (c) this Act; or
- the redress provided under the deed of settlement or this (d)
- (5) **Subsection (4)** does not exclude the jurisdiction of a court, tribunal, or other judicial body in respect of the interpretation 25 or implementation of the deed of settlement or this Act.

Consequential amendment to Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975

- Amendment to Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975 12
- This section amends the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975. (1)

30

Schedule 3 is amended by inserting the following item in its (2) appropriate alphabetical order: "Ngāti Mākino Claims Settlement Act 2011, section 11(4) and (5)".

13

(1)

Protections no longer apply

The enactments listed in **subsection (2)** do not apply—

to the cultural redress property; or

Certain enactments do not apply

	1 1 37			
	(b) to the licensed land; or		5	
	(c) to the Moutoroi Pā site; or			
	(d) to the Ōtamarākau School site, but only Ōtamarākau School site settlement da			
	(e) to the RFR land; or			
	(f) for the benefit of Ngāti Mākino or a retity.	epresentative en-	10	
(2)	The enactments are—			
` /	(a) sections 8A to 8HJ of the Treaty of Wa	aitangi Act 1975:		
	(b) sections 27A to 27C of the State-Owner 1986:	d Enterprises Act	15	
	(c) sections 211 to 213 of the Education A	Act 1989:		
	(d) Part 3 of the Crown Forest Assets Act	1989:		
	(e) Part 3 of the New Zealand Railways structuring Act 1990.	Corporation Re-		
14	Removal of memorials		20	
(1)	The chief executive of LINZ must issue to the Registrar-General a certificate that identifies (by reference to the relevant legal description, certificate of title, or computer register) each allotment that—			
	(a) is all or part of land described in sect	ion 13/1): and	25	
	(b) is contained in a certificate of title or certificate that has a memorial entered under an	computer register	23	
	ferred to in section 13(2).			
(2)	The chief executive of LINZ must issue a	certificate under		
` /	subsection (1) as soon as is reasonably practice.	cticable after—	30	
	(a) the settlement date, in the case of land			
	tion 13(1)(a), (b), (c), and (e); and			
	(b) the Ōtamarākau School site settlement of the Ōtamarākau School site.	date, in the case		
(3)	Each certificate must state that it is issued un	der this section.	35	

(4)	(4) The Registrar-General must, as soon as is reasonably p ticable after receiving a certificate issued under subsect				
	(a) register the certificate against each certificate of title or	~			
	 computer register identified in the certificate; and cancel, in respect of each allotment identified in the certificate, each memorial that is entered (in accordance with any enactment referred to in section 13(2)) on a certificate of title or computer register identified in the certificate. 	5			
	Subpart 4—Miscellaneous matters				
	Perpetuities				
15	Rule against perpetuities does not apply				
(1)	Neither the rule against perpetuities nor any provisions of the Perpetuities Act 1964—				
	 (a) prescribe or restrict the period during which— (i) the Ngāti Mākino Iwi Authority may exist in law; 				
	(ii) the trustees, in their capacity as trustees, may hold or deal with property (including income derived from property); or	20			
	(b) apply to a document entered into in order to give effect to the deed of settlement if the application of that rule or the provisions of that Act would otherwise make the document, or a right conferred by the document, invalid or ineffective.	25			
(2)	However, if the Ngāti Mākino Iwi Authority is, or becomes, a charitable trust, the application (if any) of the rule against perpetuities or any provision of the Perpetuities Act 1964 to that trust must be determined under the general law.	30			
	Timing of actions or matters				

Timing of actions or matters
Actions or matters occurring under this Act occur or take effect

on and from the settlement date.

16 (1)

(2) However, if a provision of this Act requires an action or matter to occur or take effect on a date other than the settlement date, that action or matter occurs or takes effect on and from that other date.

Access to deed of settlement

5

17 Access to deed of settlement

The chief executive of the Ministry of Justice must make copies of the deed of settlement available—

- (a) for inspection free of charge, and for purchase at a reasonable price, at the head office of the Ministry of Justice in Wellington between 9 am and 5 pm on any business day; and
- (b) free of charge on an Internet site maintained by or on behalf of the Ministry of Justice.

Part 2 Cultural redress

15

Subpart 1—Protocols

General provisions

18 Authority to issue, amend, or cancel protocols

(1) A responsible Minister may—

20

- (a) issue a protocol to the trustees; and
 - (b) amend or cancel the protocol.
- (2) The protocol may be amended or cancelled under **subsection**
 - (1) on the initiative of either—
 - (a) the trustees; or

- (b) the responsible Minister.
- (3) The responsible Minister may amend or cancel the protocol only after consulting, and having particular regard to the views of, the trustees.
- (4) A Crown minerals protocol must be in the form set out in Part 30 5 of the documents schedule at the settlement date.
- (5) A taonga tūturu protocol must be in the form set out in Part 4 of the documents schedule at the settlement date.

19	Protocol subject to rights, functions, and obligations		
	A protocol does not restrict— (a) the ability of the Crown to exercise its powers and perform its functions and duties in accordance with the last and government policy, which includes (without limit tion) the ability to— (i) introduce legislation and change government policy; and (ii) interact with or consult a person the Crown consult and change government policy; and	w a- 5 nt	
	siders appropriate, including (without limitation any iwi, hapū, marae, whānau, or other representative of tangata whenua; or	n) 10	
	(b) the responsibilities of the responsible Minister or responsible department; or	e-	
	(c) the legal rights of Ngāti Mākino or a representative entity.	n- 15	
20	Enforceability of protocol		
(1)	The Crown must comply with a protocol while it is in force		
(2)	If the Crown fails, without good cause, to comply with the protocol, the trustees may, subject to the Crown Proceedings Act 1950, enforce the protocol.		
(3)	Despite subsection (2) , damages or any form of monetar compensation are not available as a remedy for a failure to the Crown to comply with the protocol.	-	
(4)	To avoid doubt,—	25	
()	(a) subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to guideline developed for the implementation of the protocol; and	d	
	(b) subsection (3) does not affect the ability of a couto award costs incurred by the trustees in enforcing the protocol under subsection (2) .		
	Taonga tūturu protocol		
21	Effect of taonga tūturu protocol The taonga tūturu protocol does not have the effect of granting creating, or providing evidence of an estate or interest in, or rights relating to, taonga tūturu.	•	

Crown minerals protocol

22	Noti	ng and effect of Crown minerals protocol	
(1)		mmary of the terms of the Crown minerals protocol must	
	be no	oted in—	
	(a)	a register of protocols maintained by the chief executive of the Ministry of Economic Development; and	5
	(b)	the minerals programmes that affect the Crown minerals protocol area when those programmes are replaced.	
(2)	The	noting of the Crown minerals protocol—	
` '	(a)	is for the purpose of public notice only; and	10
	(b)	is not an amendment to the minerals programmes for the purposes of the Crown Minerals Act 1991.	
(3)	The	Crown minerals protocol does not have the effect of grant-	
	_	creating, or providing evidence of an estate or interest in, ghts relating to, Crown minerals.	15
(4)		is section, minerals programme has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the Crown Minerals Act 1991.	
	Su	bpart 2—Statutory acknowledgement and	
		deed of recognition	
		Statutory acknowledgement	20
23		utory acknowledgement by the Crown	
(1)	The	Crown acknowledges the statements of association.	
(2)	In the	sis subpart, statements of association means the state-	
	(a)	that are made by Ngāti Mākino of their particular cultural, spiritual, historical, and traditional association with each statutory area; and	25
	(b)	that are in the form set out in Part 2 of the documents schedule at the settlement date.	
24		ooses of statutory acknowledgement	30
(1)		only purposes of the statutory acknowledgement are to—	
	(a)	require relevant consent authorities, the Environment	
		Court, and the Historic Places Trust to have regard to	
		the statutory acknowledgement, as provided for in sec -	2.5
		tions 25 to 27; and	35

- (b) require relevant consent authorities to give summaries and notices of resource consent applications to the trustees, as provided for in **section 29**; and
- (c) enable the trustees and any member of Ngāti Mākino to cite the statutory acknowledgement as evidence of the 5 association of Ngāti Mākino with the relevant statutory areas, as provided for in **section 30**.
- (2) This section does not limit sections 33 to 35.

25 Relevant consent authorities to have regard to statutory acknowledgement

10

- (1) This section applies to a relevant consent authority that has received an application for a resource consent for an activity within, adjacent to, or directly affecting a statutory area.
- (2) On and from the effective date, the relevant consent authority must have regard to the statutory acknowledgement relating to the statutory area in deciding, under section 95E of the Resource Management Act 1991, if the trustees are affected persons in relation to the activity.
- (3) **Subsection (2)** does not limit the obligations of a relevant consent authority under the Resource Management Act 1991. 20

26 Environment Court to have regard to statutory acknowledgement

- (1) This section applies to proceedings before the Environment Court in relation to an application for a resource consent for activities within, adjacent to, or directly affecting a statutory 25 area.
- (2) On and from the effective date, the Environment Court must have regard to the statutory acknowledgement relating to the statutory area in deciding, under section 274 of the Resource Management Act 1991, if the trustees are persons with an interest in the proceedings greater than that of the general public in respect of the application.
- (3) **Subsection (2)** does not limit the obligations of the Environment Court under the Resource Management Act 1991.

27 Historic Places Trust and Environment Court to have regard to statutory acknowledgement

- (1) This section applies if, on or after the effective date, an application is made under section 11 or 12 of the Historic Places Act 1993 for an authority to destroy, damage, or modify an 5 archaeological site within a statutory area.
- (2) The Historic Places Trust must have regard to the statutory acknowledgement relating to the statutory area in exercising its powers under section 14 of the Historic Places Act 1993 in relation to the application, including determining whether the trustees are directly affected by an extension of time.
- (3) The Environment Court must have regard to the statutory acknowledgement relating to the statutory area in determining, under section 20 of the Historic Places Act 1993, an appeal against a decision of the Historic Places Trust in relation to the application, including determining whether the trustees are directly affected by the decision.
- (4) In this section, **archaeological site** has the meaning given in section 2 of the Historic Places Act 1993.

28 Recording statutory acknowledgement on statutory plans 20

- (1) On and from the effective date, each relevant consent authority must attach a record of the statutory acknowledgement to all statutory plans that wholly or partly cover a statutory area.
- (2) The record attached to a statutory plan must include—
 - (a) the relevant provisions of **sections 24 to 27** in full; 25 and
 - (b) the descriptions of the statutory areas wholly or partly covered by the plan; and
 - (c) any statements of association for the statutory areas.
- (3) The attachment of the record to a statutory plan under this 30 section is for the purpose of public information only, and the information is not—
 - (a) part of the statutory plan, unless adopted by the relevant consent authority; or
 - (b) subject to the provisions of Schedule 1 of the Resource 35 Management Act 1991, unless adopted as part of the statutory plan.

10

15

30

29 Distribution of resource consent applications to	o trustee:
---	------------

- (1) Each relevant consent authority must, for a period of 20 years starting on the effective date, give the following to the trustees for each resource consent application for an activity within, adjacent to, or directly affecting a statutory area:
 - (a) if the application is received by the consent authority, a summary of the application; or
 - (b) if notice of the application is served on the consent authority under section 145(10) of the Resource Management Act 1991, a copy of the notice.
- (2) The information provided in a summary of an application must be the same as would be given to an affected person by limited notification under section 95B of the Resource Management Act 1991, or may be agreed between the trustees and the relevant consent authority.
- (3) A summary of an application must be provided under **subsection (1)(a)**
 - (a) as soon as is reasonably practicable after the consent authority receives the application; and
 - (b) before the consent authority decides under section 95(a) 20 of the Resource Management Act 1991 whether to notify the application.
- (4) A copy of the notice of an application must be provided to the trustees under **subsection (1)(b)** no later than 10 business days after the day on which the consent authority receives the 25 notice.
- (5) This section does not affect a relevant consent authority's obligation,—
 - (a) under section 95(a) of the Resource Management Act 1991, to decide whether to notify an application:
 - (b) under section 95E of that Act, to decide whether the trustees are affected persons in relation to an application.

30 Use of statutory acknowledgement

(1) The trustees and any member of Ngāti Mākino may, as evidence of the association of Ngāti Mākino with a statutory area, cite the statutory acknowledgement that relates to that area in submissions to, and proceedings before, a relevant consent

	of inq 1991, cernin	tity, the Environmental Protection Authority or a board uiry under Part 6AA of the Resource Management Act the Environment Court, or the Historic Places Trust cong activities within, adjacent to, or directly affecting the bry area.	5
(2)	the sta	ontent of a statement of association is not, by virtue of atutory acknowledgement, binding as fact on—relevant consent authorities:	
	()	the Environmental Protection Authority or a board of inquiry under Part 6AA of the Resource Management Act 1991:	10
	(c)	the Environment Court:	
	· /	the Historic Places Trust:	
		parties to proceedings before those bodies:	
	(f)	any other person who is entitled to participate in those proceedings.	15
(3)	Despite subsection (2) , the statutory acknowledgement may be taken into account by the bodies and persons specified in that subsection.		
(4)	To avoid doubt,—		20
	(a)	neither the trustees nor members of Ngāti Mākino are precluded from stating that Ngāti Mākino have an association with a statutory area that is not described in the statutory acknowledgement; and	
	(b)	the content and existence of the statutory acknowledgement do not limit any statement made.	25
31	Trusto	ees may waive rights	
(1)	The tr	ustees may waive the right to be given summaries, and s of notices, of resource consent applications under sec- 29 in relation to a statutory area.	30
(2)		•	30
(2)	author have r	rustees may waive the right to have a relevant consent rity, the Environment Court, or the Historic Places Trust egard to the statutory acknowledgement under sections 27 in relation to a statutory area.	
(3)	sent a	s must be waived by written notice to the relevant con- uthority, the Environment Court, or the Historic Places stating—	35

(4)	(a) the scope of the waiver; and(b) the period for which it applies.An obligation under this subpart does not apply to the extent that the corresponding right has been waived under this section.	5
	Deed of recognition	
32 (1)	Authorisation to enter into deed of recognition The Minister of Conservation and the Director-General may— (a) make a deed of recognition in relation to the statutory area referred to as part of Lake Rotoma Scenic Reserve: (b) amend the deed of recognition, but only with the consent of the trustees.	10
(2)	The deed of recognition must be substantially in the form set out in Part 3 of the documents schedule.	
	General provisions	15
33	Exercise or performance of powers, duties, and functions	
(1)	Except as expressly provided in this subpart,— (a) neither the statutory acknowledgement nor a deed of recognition affects, or may be taken into account by, a person exercising a power or performing a function or duty under legislation or a bylaw; and	20
	(b) no person, in considering a matter or making a decision or recommendation under legislation or a bylaw, may give greater or lesser weight to the association of Ngāti Mākino with a statutory area than that person would give if there were no statutory acknowledgement or deed of recognition for the statutory area.	25
(2)	Subsection (1)(b) does not affect the operation of subsection (1)(a).	
34	Rights not affected Except as expressly provided in this subpart, neither the statutory acknowledgement nor a deed of recognition affects the lawful rights or interests of any person who is not a party to the deed of settlement.	30

35 Limitation of rights

Except as expressly provided in this subpart, neither the statutory acknowledgement nor a deed of recognition has the effect of granting, creating, or providing evidence of an estate or interest in, or rights relating to, a statutory area.

5

Consequential amendment to Resource Management Act 1991

36 **Amendment to Resource Management Act 1991**

- This section amends the Resource Management Act 1991. (1)
- Schedule 11 is amended by inserting the following item in its 10 (2) appropriate alphabetical order: "Ngāti Mākino Claims Settlement Act 2011".

Subpart 3—Whenua rāhui

37 Interpretation

- In this Act, whenua rāhui means the application of this sub- 15 (1) part to the whenua rāhui site.
- (2) In this subpart,—

conservation board means a board established under section 6L of the Conservation Act 1987

conservation management plan has the meaning given in 20 section 2(1) of the Conservation Act 1987

conservation management strategy has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the Conservation Act 1987

national park management plan means a management plan prepared and approved for a national park in accordance with 25 sections 45 to 48 of the National Parks Act 1980

New Zealand Conservation Authority means the authority established under section 6A of the Conservation Act 1987

Ngāti Mākino values means the values set out in relation to the whenua rāhui site in the statement of Ngāti Mākino values protection principles means the protection principles set out in relation to the whenua rāhui site in paragraph 1.3 of the documents schedule at the settlement date, including any amendments made to the principles under section 41(4) and (5)

statement of general policy means a statement of general policy approved under section 17B of the Conservation Act 1987 or adopted under section 44 of the National Parks Act 1980 statement of Ngāti Mākino values means the statement of values made by Ngāti Mākino in relation to the whenua rāhui 5 site and set out in paragraph 1.2 of the documents schedule whenua rāhui site—

- (a) means the site that is declared under **section 38** to be subject to the whenua rāhui; but
- (b) does not include an area that is declared under **section** 10 **52(1)** to be no longer subject to the whenua rāhui.

38 Declaration of whenua rāhui of Ngāti Mākino

Part of Lake Rotoma Scenic Reserve as described in **Schedule 1** is subject to a whenua rāhui in relation to Ngāti Mākino.

39 The Crown's acknowledgement of Ngāti Mākino values
The Crown acknowledges the statement of Ngāti Mākino values relating to the whenua rāhui site.

40 Purposes of whenua rāhui

The only purposes of the declaration of a whenua rāhui under **section 38** and of the Crown's acknowledgement under **section 39** of Ngāti Mākino values in relation to the whenua rāhui site are—

- (a) to require the New Zealand Conservation Authority and relevant conservation boards to have particular regard to the statement of Ngāti Mākino values and the protection principles, as provided in **section 42**, and to the views of the trustees as provided in **section 43**:
- (b) to require the New Zealand Conservation Authority to give the trustees an opportunity to make submissions, as provided for in **section 44**:
- (c) to enable the taking of action under **sections 45 to 50**.

41 Agreement on protection principles

(1) The trustees and the Crown may agree on, and publicise, protection principles.

30

The purpose of the protection principles is to assist the Minis-

(2)

consult the trustees; and

The New Zealand Conservation Authority or the conservation

the effect of the policy, strategy, or plan on—

have particular regard to the views of the trustees as to

(2)

board must—

(a)

(b)

	(i)) Ngāti Mākino values; and	
	(ii	i) the protection principles.	
14		unity to make submissions on draft conservation	
	_	ment strategy	
(1)	Conserv	etion applies if the trustees advise the New Zealand ration Authority in writing that they have significant about a draft conservation management strategy that to the whenua rāhui site.	10
(2)	proving	w Zealand Conservation Authority must, before ap- the strategy, give the trustees an opportunity to make ions in relation to their concerns.	15
1 5	Noting (of whenua rāhui	
(1)	The decl lowing of site:	laration of the whenua rāhui must be noted in the foldocuments if the documents affect the whenua rāhui	20
	(b) a	conservation management strategy: conservation management plan: national park management plan.	
(2)	` '	ing of the whenua rāhui under subsection (1)—	
,	(a) is (b) is se	for the purpose of public notice only; and not an amendment to a document for the purposes of ection 17I of the Conservation Act 1987 or section 46 f the National Parks Act 1980.	25
1 6	Notifica	tion of actions in Gazette	
(1)	As soon	as practicable after the settlement date, the Minister	30
		ervation must notify in the <i>Gazette</i> —	
	is	ne declaration that part of Lake Rotoma Scenic Reserve subject to the whenua rāhui; and	
	(b) th	ne protection principles.	
		27	

(4)

1980, as the case requires.

This section does not limit section 47(2).

35

4.0		
49	Regulati	ons

The Governor-General may, by Order in Council made on the recommendation of the Minister of Conservation, make regulations for 1 or more of the following purposes:

- (a) to provide for the implementation of objectives in- 5 cluded in a strategy or plan under **section 48(1)**:
- (b) to regulate or prohibit activities or conduct by members of the public in the whenua rāhui site:
- (c) to create offences for breaches of regulations made under **paragraph (b)**:
- (d) to provide for the following fines to be imposed:
 - (i) for an offence referred to in **paragraph** (c), a fine not exceeding \$5,000; and
 - (ii) for a continuing offence, an additional amount not exceeding \$50 for every day during which the 15 offence continues.

50 Bylaws

- (1) The Minister of Conservation may make bylaws for 1 or more of the following purposes:
 - (a) to provide for the implementation of objectives in- 20 cluded in a strategy or plan under **section 48(1)**:
 - (b) to regulate or prohibit activities or conduct by members of the public in the whenua rāhui site:
 - (c) to create offences for breaches of bylaws made under **paragraph (b)**:
 - (d) to provide for the following fines to be imposed:
 - (i) for an offence referred to in **paragraph** (c), a fine not exceeding \$1,000; and
 - (ii) for a continuing offence, an additional amount not exceeding \$50 for every day during which the 30 offence continues.
- (2) Bylaws made under this section are regulations for the purposes of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989 and the Regulations Disallowance Act 1989.

51 Existing classification of whenua rāhui site

(1) This section applies if the whenua rāhui applies to any land in—

25

35

management of the area concerned.

pressly provides otherwise.

Exercise of powers, functions, and duties

This section applies except to the extent that this subpart ex-

under section 39 do not affect, and may not be taken into ac-

The declaration under **section 38** and the acknowledgement 35

1	Λ
4	u

53

(1)

(2)

count by, a person exercising a power or performing a function
or duty under legislation or a bylaw.
No person in considering a matter or making a decision or rec-

- (3) No person, in considering a matter or making a decision or rec ommendation under legislation or a bylaw, may give greater or lesser weight to Ngāti Mākino values than that person would 5 give under the relevant legislation or bylaw if the whenua rāhui site had not been declared subject to the whenua rāhui and the statements of Ngāti Mākino values had not been acknowledged.
- 10 (4) **Subsection (3)** does not limit subsection (2).

54 Rights not affected

Sections 38 and 39 do not affect the lawful rights or interests of a person who is not a party to the deed of settlement, except as expressly provided in this subpart.

55 **Limitation of rights**

15

20

Sections 38 and 39 do not have the effect of granting, creating, or providing evidence of an estate or interest in, or rights relating to, the whenua rāhui site, except as expressly provided in this subpart.

Subpart 4—The Crown not prevented from providing other similar redress

56 The Crown not prevented from providing other similar

- The provision of the cultural redress in subparts 1, 2, and 3 (1) (which relate to redress by way of a protocol, a statutory acknowledgement, a deed of recognition, and a whenua rāhui) does not prevent the Crown from doing anything that is consistent with that cultural redress, including
 - providing, or agreeing to introduce legislation providing or enabling, the same or similar redress to any per- 30 son other than Ngāti Mākino or the trustees:
 - disposing of land. (b)
- (2) However, subsection (1) is not an acknowledgement by the Crown or Ngāti Mākino that any other iwi or group has inter-

57

ests in relation to land or an area to which any of the cultural redress relates.

Subpart 5—Cultural redress properties

	rpretation nis Part,—	5
	ural redress property means any of the following sites, each site means the land described by that name in Sched-2 :	
(a)	Site that vests in fee simple subject to easement Te Kōhanga site:	10
(b)	Site that vests in fee simple subject to conservation covenant the Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa site:	
(0)	Sites that vest in fee simple to be administered as scenic reserves	15
(c)	the Lake Rotoehu Scenic Reserve site: the Balance of Matawhāura site:	
(d) (e)	Ngā Pōrōtai-o-Waitaha-a-Hei site:	
(f)	Site that vests in fee simple to be administered as local purpose (conservation and education) reserve the Rotoehu Forest Central Wānanga site.	20
join Affi	t entity means the entity described in section 118 of the liate Te Arawa Iwi and Hapu Claims Settlement Act 2008 Pikiao entity)	
Mat the r	tawhāura (part of the Lake Rotoiti Scenic Reserve) has meaning given in section 118 of the Affiliate Te Arawa Iwi Hapu Claims Settlement Act 2008	25
	rve site means—	
(a) (b)	the Lake Rotoehu Scenic Reserve site: the Balance of Matawhāura site:	30
(c)	Ngā Pōrōtai-o-Waitaha-a-Hei site:	50
(d)	the Rotoehu Forest Central Wānanga site.	

Site that vests in fee simple subject to easement

58		Kōhanga site		
(1)		Kōhanga site ceases to be a conservation area under the servation Act 1987.		
(2)	The	fee simple estate in Te Kōhanga site vests in the trustees.	5	
(3)	However, before subsections (1) and (2) take effect, the trustees must provide the Crown with a registrable right of way easement in gross in favour of the Minister of Conservation over the routes shown marked A and B on deed plan OTS-275-06 (subject to survey) and on the terms and conditions set out in subpart B of Part 8 of the documents schedule (Te			
(4)		anga site easement). Minister of Conservation must by or on the settlement.		
(4)	date,	Minister of Conservation must, by or on the settlement provide the trustees with a registrable right of way easet that provides the trustees with access to Te Kōhanga site	15	
	(a)	the route shown marked A and B on the diagram attached to the form of easement in subpart E of Part 8 of the documents schedule (Te Kōhanga easement) (subject to survey); and	20	
	(b)	the area shown marked as A on SO 379094.		
59	Con	ditions on use and management of Te Kōhanga site		
(1)	The trustees must use and manage Te Kōhanga site in a way that—			
	(a)	is consistent with the site's location in a corridor of sig- nificant indigenous ecological value; and	25	
	(b)	does not detract from the status of the adjoining land as an ecological area under the Conservation Act 1987.		
(2)	The	The trustees must ensure that, in relation to Te Kōhanga site,—		
	(a)	the risk of fire is minimised; and	30	
	(b)	areas containing farm animals are fenced so that the animals cannot enter areas of native vegetation; and		
	(c)	diverse uses of the site are promoted while the amount of open or cleared land is minimised; and		

the introduction of domestic animals other than farmed 35

the presence and spread of weeds are minimised.

animals is prevented; and

(d)

(e)

To avoid doubt, the following activities are prohibited on Te

(3)

Kōhanga site:

(2)	income as is needed to meet the reasonable expenses incurred in relation to Te Kōhanga site.		
(3)	In this section, conservation purposes means the preservation and protection of natural and historic resources for the purposes of—	5	
	 (a) maintaining their intrinsic values; and (b) providing for their appreciation and recreational enjoyment by the public; and 		
	 (c) safeguarding the choices of future generations; and (d) providing educational services relating to the matters described in paragraphs (a) to (c). 	10	
	Site that vests in fee simple subject to conservation covenant		
62 (1)	Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa site The Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa site ceases to be a conservation area under the Conservation Act 1987.		
(2)	The fee simple estate in the Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa site vests in the trustees.		
(3)	However, before subsections (1) and (2) take effect, the trustees must provide the Crown with a registrable covenant in relation to the Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa site in the form described as the Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa covenant set out in subpart A of Part 8 of the documents schedule.	20	
(4)	The Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa covenant is a conservation covenant for the purposes of section 77 of the Reserves Act 1977.	25	
	Sites that vest in fee simple to be administered as reserves		
63 (1)	Lake Rotoehu Scenic Reserve site The reservation of the Lake Rotoehu Scenic Reserve site as a scenic reserve subject to section 19 of the Reserves Act 1977 is revoked.	30	
(2)	The fee simple estate in the Lake Rotoehu Scenic Reserve site vests in the trustees.	35	

The Rotoehu Forest Central Wananga site ceases to be a con-

35

servation area under the Conservation Act 1987.

(1)

site vests in the trustees.

The fee simple estate in the Rotoehu Forest Central Wānanga

(2)

(3)	and classified as a local purpose (conservation and education) reserve for the purposes specified in section 23 of the Reserves Act 1977.		
(4)	The name of the reserve created under subsection (3) is Rotoehu Forest Central Wānanga Local Purpose Reserve.		
(5)	The Minister of Conservation must, by or on the settlement date, provide the trustees with a registrable right of way easement that provides the trustees with access to the Rotoehu Forest Central Wānanga site over the route the general location of which is shown marked A on the diagram attached to the form of easement in subpart D of Part 8 of the documents sched-	10	
	ule (Rotoehu Forest Central Wānanga site easement) and which is subject to survey.	15	
67 (1)	Easements over conservation land Despite Part 3B of the Conservation Act 1987, the Minister of Conservation may grant the trustees a registrable right of way easement over a conservation area as required by sections 58, 65, and 66.	20	
(2)	 An easement granted under this section— (a) is enforceable in accordance with its terms; and (b) must be treated as if it were granted under Part 3B of the Conservation Act 1987; and (c) is registrable under section 17ZA(2) of the Conservation Act 1987 as if it were a deed to which that section applies. 	25	
	Subpart 6—General provisions relating to vesting of cultural redress properties	30	
68	Properties vest subject to, or together with, encumbrances and permits		
	Each cultural redress property vests under subpart 5 subject to, or together with, any encumbrances listed in relation to the property in Schedule 2 .	35	

Registration of ownership

69

(1)	This section applies in relation to the fee simple estate in a cultural redress property vested in the trustees under subpart 5 .		
(2)	The Registrar-General must, on written application by an authorised person, comply with subsections (3) and (4) .		
(3)	To the extent that a cultural redress property is all of the land contained in a computer freehold register, the Registrar-General must—		
	(a) register the trustees as the proprietors of the fee simple estate in the land; and	10	
	(b) make any entries in the register, and do all other things, that are necessary to give effect to this Part and to Part 5 of the deed of settlement.		
(4)	To the extent that a cultural redress property is not all of the land contained in a computer freehold register, or there is no computer freehold register for all or part of the property, the Registrar-General must, in accordance with an application received from an authorised person,—	15	
	(a) create 1 or more computer freehold registers for the fee simple estate in the property in the names of the trustees; and	20	
	(b) enter on the register any encumbrances that are registered, notified, or notifiable and that are described in the application.		
(5)	Subsection (4) applies subject to the completion of any survey necessary to create the computer freehold register.	25	
(6)	A computer freehold register must be created under this section as soon as is reasonably practicable after the settlement date, but no later than—		
	(a) 24 months after the settlement date; or(b) any later date that may be agreed in writing by the trustees and the Crown.	30	
(7)	In this section, authorised person means a person authorised by the chief executive of the landholding agency.		
70 (1)	Application of Part 4A of Conservation Act 1987 The vesting of the fee simple estate in a cultural redress property in the trustees under subpart 5 is a disposition for the	35	

	tions		f Part 4A of the Conservation Act 1987, but sec- A), 24A, and 24AA of that Act do not apply to the			
(2)	vatio	Despite subsection (1) , the rest of section 24 of the Conservation Act 1987 does not apply to the vesting of a reserve site 5 under subpart 5 .				
(3)	in rel long Act	the reservation of a reserve site under subpart 5 is revoked relation to all or part of the site, the vesting of the site is no nger exempt from the rest of section 24 of the Conservation ct 1987 in relation to all or that part of the site, as the case quires.				
71			application of Part 4A of Conservation Act sections of this Part			
(1)	The		rar-General must record on the computer freehold	15		
	(a)		serve site (other than the Balance of Matawhāura			
		(i)	that— the land is subject to Part 4A of the Conservation Act 1987, but that section 24 of that Act does not apply; and	20		
		(ii)	the land is subject to sections 70(3) and 74(1)			
	(1.)	.1 =	to (7) of this Act; and			
	(b)	the E (i)	Balance of Matawhāura site that— the land is subject to Part 4A of the Conservation Act 1987, but that section 24 of that Act does not apply; and	25		
		(ii)	the land is subject to sections 70(3) and 74 of			
	(c)	Te K	this Act; and Cohanga site that the land is subject to—			
	(0)	(i)	Part 4A of the Conservation Act 1987; and	30		
		(ii)	sections 59 and 61 of this Act; and			
	(d)		other cultural redress property that the land is subto Part 4A of the Conservation Act 1987.			
(2)	to Pa	art 4A	on made under subsection (1) that land is subject of the Conservation Act 1987 is to be treated as n made under section 24D(1) of that Act.	35		
(3)		-	ervation under subpart 5 of the Balance of			

Matawhāura site as a reserve is revoked in relation to—

- (a) all of the site, the Director-General must apply in writing to the Registrar-General to remove from the computer freehold register for the site the notifications that—
 - (i) section 24 of the Conservation Act 1987 does not 5 apply to the site; and
 - (ii) the site is subject to sections 70(3) and 74 of this Act; or
- (b) part of the site, the Registrar-General must ensure that the notifications referred to in **paragraph** (a) remain on the computer freehold register only for the part of the site that remains a reserve.
- (4) If the reservation under **subpart 5** of a reserve site (other than the Balance of Matawhāura site) is revoked in relation to—
 - (a) all of the site, the Director-General must apply in 15 writing to the Registrar-General to remove from the computer freehold register for the site the notifications that—
 - (i) section 24 of the Conservation Act 1987 does not apply to the site; and

20

- (ii) the site is subject to sections 70(3) and 74(1) to (7) of this Act; or
- (b) part of the site, the Registrar-General must ensure that the notifications referred to in **paragraph** (a) remain on the computer freehold register only for the part of 25 the site that remains a reserve.
- (5) The Registrar-General must comply with an application received in accordance with **subsection (3)(a) or (4)(a)**.

72 Application of other enactments

- (1) Sections 24 and 25 of the Reserves Act 1977 do not apply 30 to the revocation, under **subpart 5**, of the reserve status of a cultural redress property.
- (2) Section 11 and Part 10 of the Resource Management Act 1991 do not apply to—
 - (a) the vesting of the fee simple estate in a cultural redress 35 property under **subpart 5**; or
 - (b) any matter incidental to, or required for the purpose of, the vesting.

5

10

(3)	The vesting of the fee simple estate in a cultural redress property under subpart 5 does not—			
	(a)	limit section 10 or 11 of the Crown Minerals Act 1991;		
		or		
	(b)	affect other rights to subsurface minerals.		
(4)	The	permission of a council under section 348 of the Local		

(4) The permission of a council under section 348 of the Local Government Act 1974 is not required for laying out, forming, granting, or reserving a private road, private way, or right of way required to fulfil the terms of the deed of settlement in relation to a cultural redress property.

Provisions relating to reserve sites

73 Application of Reserves Act 1977 to reserve sites

- (1) The trustees are the administering body of a reserve site for the purposes of the Reserves Act 1977.
- (2) Despite sections 48A(6), 114(5), and 115(6) of the Reserves 15 Act 1977, sections 48A, 114, and 115 of that Act apply to a reserve site.
- (3) Sections 78(1)(a), 79 to 81, and 88 of the Reserves Act 1977 do not apply in relation to a reserve site.
- (4) If the reservation under **subpart 5** of a reserve site is revoked 20 under section 24 of the Reserves Act 1977 in relation to all or part of the site, section 25 of that Act, except subsection (2) of that provision, does not apply to the revocation.

74 Subsequent transfer of reserve land

- (1) This section applies to all, or the part, of a reserve site that, 25 at any time after vesting in the trustees under **subpart 5**, continues to be a reserve under the Reserves Act 1977 (the **reserve land**).
- (2) The fee simple estate in the reserve land may be transferred to any other person, but only in accordance with this section, 30 despite any other enactment or rule of law.
- (3) The Minister of Conservation must give written consent to the transfer of the fee simple estate in the reserve land to another person or persons (the **new owners**) if, upon written application, the registered proprietors of the reserve land satisfy the 35 Minister that the new owners are able to—

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(c)

comply with the requirements of the Reserves Act 1977; (a) (b) perform the duties of an administering body under that The Registrar-General must, upon receiving the documents 5 specified in **subsection** (5), register the new owners as the proprietors of the fee simple estate in the reserve land. The documents are— (a) a transfer instrument to transfer the fee simple estate in the reserve land to the new owners, including a notification that the new owners are to hold the reserve land for the same reserve purposes as those for which it was held by the administering body immediately before the transfer; and the written consent of the Minister of Conservation to (b) the transfer of the reserve land; and any other document required for registration of the (c) transfer instrument. The new owners, from the time of registration under **subsec**tion (4),— 20 are the administering body of the reserve land for the (a) purposes of the Reserves Act 1977; and (b) hold the reserve land for the same reserve purposes as those for which it was held by the administering body 25 immediately before the transfer. Despite subsections (1) and (2), subsections (3) to (6) do not apply to the transfer of the fee simple estate in reserve land if the transferors of the reserve land are or were the (a) trustees of a trust: and 30 the transferees are the trustees of the same trust, after (b) any new trustee has been appointed to the trust or any transferor has ceased to be a trustee of the trust; and

the instrument to transfer the reserve land is accompan-

ied by a certificate given by the transferees, or the transferees' solicitor, verifying that **paragraphs** (a) and (b)

(8) Despite subsections (1) and (2),—

apply.

- (a) **subsection (3)** does not apply to the transfer of the fee simple estate in the Balance of Matawhāura site to the joint entity in accordance with clause 5.18 of the deed of settlement; and
- (b) **subsection (4)** applies to the transfer as if **subsection** 5 **(5)(b)** had not been enacted.

75 Trustees must not mortgage reserves

The registered proprietors of a reserve site must not mortgage, or give a security interest in, all or any part of the site that, at any time after vesting in the trustees under **subpart 5**, remains 10 a reserve under the Reserves Act 1977.

76 Saving of bylaws, etc, in relation to reserve sites

- (1) This section applies to any bylaw, prohibition, or restriction on use or access that an administering body or the Minister made under the Reserves Act 1977 or the Conservation Act 1987 in 15 relation to a reserve site before the site vested in the trustees under **subpart 5**.
- (2) The bylaw, prohibition, or restriction on use or access remains in force until it expires or is revoked under the Reserves Act 1977 or the Conservation Act 1987.

Subpart 7—Names of reserves and conservation areas

77 New reserve names

- (1) If a site vested under **subpart 5** comprised, immediately before the vesting, the whole of a reserve or conservation area, and an official geographic name was assigned under the New Zealand Geographic Board (Ngā Pou Taunaha o Aotearoa) Act 2008 to the site,—
 - (a) that official geographic name is discontinued; and
 - (b) the Board must ensure that, as soon as is reasonably 30 practicable, the official geographic name is removed from the Gazetteer.
- (2) However, if a site vested under **subpart 5** comprises only part of a reserve or conservation area,—

(3)

(4)

1 78	Ngāti Mākino Claims Settlement Bill
(a)	subsection (1)(a) applies only to the part of the site
	that is vested under subpart 5 ; and
(b)	the Board must amend the Gazetteer so that the official geographic name applies only to the part of the reserve
	or conservation area that is not vested under subpart 5 .
If a s	site is vested under subpart 5 and reserved and classified
	scenic reserve under that subpart, the scenic reserve does become a Crown protected area.
In th	is section,—
Dag	ad moons the New Zeeland Coographic Doord Not Dou

5

30

Board means the New Zealand Geographic Board Ngā Pou 10 Taunaha o Aotearoa continued by section 7 of the New Zealand Geographic Board (Ngā Pou Taunaha o Aotearoa) Act 2008

Crown protected area, Gazetteer, and official geographic name have the meanings given by section 4 of the New 15 Zealand Geographic Board (Ngā Pou Taunaha o Aotearoa) Act 2008.

Subpart 8—Moutoroi Pā site

78 Moutoroi Pā

- In this Act, Moutoroi Pā site means the land described by that 20 (1) name in Schedule 3.
- The fee simple estate in the Moutoroi Pā site vests in the (2) trustees.
- Sections 69 to 72 of this Act apply to the Moutoroi Pā site (3) as if the site were a cultural redress property. 25

Part 3 **Commercial redress**

Subpart 1—Transfer of licensed land and Ōtamarākau School site

Transfer of licensed land and Ōtamarākau School site **79** to Ngāti Mākino

To give effect to Part 6 of the deed of settlement, the Crown (acting by and through the chief executive of the land holding agency) is authorised to do 1 or both of the following:

80

(1)

(2)

(3)

81

(1) (2)

(b)

name of the Crown—

in the written application; but without any statement of purpose.

(a)	transfer the fee simple estate in the licensed land or the Ōtamarākau School site to the trustees:	
(b)	sign a transfer instrument or other document, or do any other thing to effect that transfer.	
_	trar-General to create computer freehold register tamarākau School site	5
	ection applies to the Ōtamarākau School site to the ex-	
	at it is not all of the land contained in a computer free-	
hold r	egister, or there is no computer freehold register for all	
or par	t of the property.	10
	egistrar-General must, in accordance with a written ap-	
	on by an authorised person, and after completion of any	
	sary survey, create a computer freehold register for the mple estate in the property in the name of the Crown—	
(a)	subject to, and together with, any encumbrances that are	15
(4)	registered, notified, or notifiable and that are described	10
	in the written application; but	
(b)	without any statement of purpose.	
	s section and sections 81 and 82, authorised person	
	s a person authorised by the chief executive of the land	20
	ag agency for the licensed land or the Ōtamarākau School	
site (a	s applicable).	
Regis	trar-General to create computer freehold register	
_	ensed land	
This s	ection applies to the licensed land.	25
	egistrar-General must, in accordance with a written ap-	
	on by an authorised person and after completion of any	
necess	sary survey, create 1 computer freehold register in the	

subject to, and together with, any encumbrances that are registered, notified, or notifiable and that are described

82	Authorised person may grant covenant for later creation
	of computer freehold register

- (1) For the purposes of **sections 80 and 81**, the authorised person may grant a covenant to arrange for the later creation of a computer freehold register for the licensed land or the Ōta- 5 marākau School site.
- (2) Despite the Land Transfer Act 1952,—
 - (a) the authorised person may request the Registrar-General to register a covenant (referred to in subsection
 (1) under the Land Transfer Act 1952 by creating a 10 computer interest register; and
 - (b) the Registrar-General must register the covenant in accordance with **paragraph** (a).

83 Application of other enactments

- (1) Section 11 and Part 10 of the Resource Management Act 1991 15 do not apply to—
 - (a) the transfer to the trustees of the licensed land or the Ōtamarākau School site; or
 - (b) any matter incidental to, or required for the purpose of, the transfer.

20

25

- (2) The transfer of the licensed land or the Ōtamarākau School site to the trustees does not—
 - (a) limit section 10 or 11 of the Crown Minerals Act 1991; or
 - (b) affect other rights to subsurface minerals.
- (3) The transfer of the licensed land or the Ōtamarākau School site to the trustees is a disposition for the purposes of Part 4A of the Conservation Act 1987, but sections 24(2A), 24A, and 24AA of that Act do not apply to the disposition.
- (4) In exercising the powers conferred by **section 76**, the Crown is not required to comply with any other enactment that would otherwise regulate or apply to the transfer of the licensed land or the Ōtamarākau School site.
- (5) Subsection (4) is subject to subsections (2) and (3).
- (6) The permission of a council under section 348 of the Local 35 Government Act 1974 is not required for laying out, forming, granting, or reserving a private road, private way, or right of

way required to fulfil the terms of Part 6 of the deed of settlement and Part 3 of the property redress schedule in relation to the transfer of the licensed land.

Subpart 2—Licensed land

d
(

5

- (1) The licensed land ceases to be Crown forest land on the registration of the transfer of the fee simple estate in the land to the trustees.
- (2) However, although the licensed land does not cease to be Crown forest land until the transfer of the fee simple estate in the land to the trustees is registered, neither the Crown nor any court or tribunal may do any thing, or omit to do any thing, if that act or omission would, between the settlement date and the date of registration, be inconsistent with this Part or Part 6 of the deed of settlement.

15

(3) **Subsection (2)** applies even if the act or omission would be consistent with the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989.

85 Cancellation of protective covenant over part of Waitahanui Stream

- (1) The Minister for State Owned Enterprises must vary the protective covenant over Waitahanui Stream by cancelling the covenant to the extent that it relates to the area shown on deed plan OTS-275-12 as soon as practicable after the settlement date. The area is subject to survey.
- (2) Section 21 of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989 applies to the 25 variation of the protective covenant.
- (3) However, section 22 of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989 does not apply to the variation of the protective covenant.
- (4) In this section, **protective covenant** means protective covenant number 5, which is included in the Crown forestry 30 licence in accordance with section 18 of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989, and the terms of which are included in protective covenant certificate B264450.3 and recorded in computer interest register SA58A/600.

86	Frustees confirmed beneficiaries and licensors in relation	n
	to licensed land	

- (1) The trustees are, in relation to the licensed land, the confirmed beneficiaries under clause 11.1 of the Crown forestry rental trust deed.
- (2) The effect of subsection (1) is that—
 - (a) the trustees are entitled to the rental proceeds payable since the commencement of the Crown forestry licence; and
 - (b) all the provisions of the Crown forestry rental trust deed apply on the basis that the trustees are the confirmed beneficiaries.

5

- (3) The Crown must give notice under section 17(4)(b) of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989 in respect of the Crown forestry licence, even though the Waitangi Tribunal has not made a recommendation under section 8HB(1)(a) of the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975 for the return of the licensed land.
- (4) Notice given by the Crown under **subsection (3)** has effect as if—
 - (a) the Waitangi Tribunal had made a recommendation 20 under section 8HB(1)(a) of the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975 for the return of the licensed land; and
 - (b) the recommendation had become final on the settlement date.
- (5) The trustees are the licensor under the Crown forestry licence 25 as if the licensed land had been returned to Māori ownership—
 - (a) on the settlement date; and
 - (b) under section 36 of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989.
- (6) However, section 36(1)(b) of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989 does not apply to the licensed land.

87 Effect of transfer of licensed land

- (1) **Section 86** applies whether or not—
 - (a) the transfer of the fee simple estate in the licensed land has been registered; or
 - (b) the processes described in clause 17.4 of the Crown 35 forestry licence have been completed.

To the extent that the Crown has not completed the processes

(2)

	referred to in subsection (1)(b) before the settlement date, it	
	must continue those processes—	
	(a) after the settlement date; and	5
(2)	(b) until the processes are completed.	3
(3)	For the period from the settlement date until the completion of the processes referred to in subsections (1) and (2) , the licence fee payable under the Crown forestry licence in respect of the licensed land is the amount calculated in the manner described in paragraphs 6.24 and 6.25 of the property redress schedule.	10
(4)	With effect on and from the settlement date, references to the prospective proprietors in clause 17.4 of the Crown forestry licence must, in relation to the licensed land, be read as if they were references to the trustees.	15
88	Minister of Conservation may grant easements	
(1)	Despite Part 3B of the Conservation Act 1987, the Minister of Conservation may grant the trustees a right of way easement over a conservation area that provides the trustees with access to the licensed land as described in the column headed encumbrances in part 3 of the property redress schedule and being the right of way easements noted in that schedule as referred to in clause 6.3.2(c) or (d) of the deed of settlement.	20
(2)	An easement granted under this section— (a) is enforceable in accordance with its terms; and (b) must be treated as if it were granted under Part 3B of the Conservation Act 1987; and	25
	(c) is registrable under section 17ZA(2) of the Conservation Act 1987, as if it were a deed to which that provision applied.	30
89	Public access to licensed land	
(1)	Clause 6.2 of the Crown forestry licence (which relates to public entry for recreational purposes) continues to apply even though the Crown is no longer the licensor under the licence because the land has been transferred to the trustees under section 79 .	35

A notification to the same effect as described in subsection

(2)

	(a) (b)	be recorded against the computer freehold register for the licensed land; and on application by the registered proprietor, be removed	5
		from the computer freehold register for the licensed land on the expiry of the Crown forestry licence.	
90		ic right of way easement may be granted	
(1)	of the	blic right of way easement may be granted under section 8 to Crown Forest Assets Act 1989 in relation to the licensed and is enforceable in accordance with its terms, despite	10
(2)		abject matter.	
(2)	to an	ons 26 and 27 of the Crown Forest Assets Act 1989 apply y variation, renewal, or cancellation under section 8(b) of Act of a public right of way easement.	15
(3)	ment	is section, public right of way easement means an ease- in gross granted in relation to the licensed land in the in subpart G of Part 8 of the documents schedule.	
		Subpart 3—Access to protected site	
١.1	Maa		20
91	In th	ning of protected site is subpart, protected site means an area of land situated e licensed land that—	20
7 1	In th	e 1	20
71	In the	is subpart, protected site means an area of land situated e licensed land that— is wāhi tapu or a wāhi tapu area within the meaning of	25
92	In the in the (a) (b) Righ	is subpart, protected site means an area of land situated e licensed land that— is wāhi tapu or a wāhi tapu area within the meaning of section 2 of the Historic Places Act 1993; and is, or may at any future time become, a registered place within the meaning of section 2 of that Act. It of access to protected site	
	In the (a) (b) Right The cany pland to M or hi	is subpart, protected site means an area of land situated to licensed land that— is wāhi tapu or a wāhi tapu area within the meaning of section 2 of the Historic Places Act 1993; and is, or may at any future time become, a registered place within the meaning of section 2 of that Act. It of access to protected site owner of the land on which a protected site is situated and person holding an interest in, or right of occupancy to, that must allow access across the land to each protected site āori for whom the protected site is of spiritual, cultural, storical significance.	
92 (1) (2)	In the (a) (b) Right The cany pland to M or hit The	is subpart, protected site means an area of land situated the licensed land that— is wāhi tapu or a wāhi tapu area within the meaning of section 2 of the Historic Places Act 1993; and is, or may at any future time become, a registered place within the meaning of section 2 of that Act. It of access to protected site owner of the land on which a protected site is situated and berson holding an interest in, or right of occupancy to, that must allow access across the land to each protected site āori for whom the protected site is of spiritual, cultural,	25
92 (1)	In the (a) (b) Right The cany pland to M or hit The cover	is subpart, protected site means an area of land situated to licensed land that— is wāhi tapu or a wāhi tapu area within the meaning of section 2 of the Historic Places Act 1993; and is, or may at any future time become, a registered place within the meaning of section 2 of that Act. It of access to protected site owner of the land on which a protected site is situated and berson holding an interest in, or right of occupancy to, that must allow access across the land to each protected site āori for whom the protected site is of spiritual, cultural, storical significance.	25
92 (1) (2)	In the (a) (b) Right The cany pland to M or hit The cover	is subpart, protected site means an area of land situated to licensed land that— is wāhi tapu or a wāhi tapu area within the meaning of section 2 of the Historic Places Act 1993; and is, or may at any future time become, a registered place within the meaning of section 2 of that Act. It of access to protected site owner of the land on which a protected site is situated and person holding an interest in, or right of occupancy to, that must allow access across the land to each protected site āori for whom the protected site is of spiritual, cultural, storical significance. Tight of access may be exercised by vehicles or by foot any reasonably convenient routes specified by the owner.	300

intention to exercise that right; and

times and during daylight hours; and

a person intending to exercise the right of access must give the owner reasonable notice in writing of his or her

the right of access may be exercised only at reasonable

a person exercising the right of access must observe any

(a)

(b)

(c)

	1	the tii	nable conditions imposed by the owner relating to me, location, or manner of access as are reasonably red— for the safety of people; or for the protection of land, improvements, flora and fauna, plant and equipment, or livestock; or for operational reasons.	10	
93	Right	of ac	cess subject to Crown forestry licence		
(1)	Right of access subject to Crown forestry licence The right of access conferred by section 92 is subject to and does not override the terms of any Crown forestry licence, except where the licensee has agreed to an exercise of the right of access.				
(2)	to the o	exten delay acces	nent to a Crown forestry licence will be of no effect that it purports to— the date from which a person who has a right of s under section 92 may exercise that right; or wise adversely affect the right of access.	20	
94 (1)	The Replication puter from the may at	egistr on by reeho any	General must note right of access ar-General must, in accordance with a written apan authorised person, make a notation on the combid register for the licensed land that the land is, or future time become, subject to the right of access ection 92.	25	
(2)	An application must be made as soon as is reasonably practicable after the settlement date.			30	
(3)	ated by	y the s is r	The computer freehold register has not been cresettlement date, an application must be made as reasonably practicable after the register has been	35	
			61		

(4) In this section, **authorised person** means a person authorised by the chief executive of LINZ.

Subpart 4—Trustees' right of first refusal in relation to RFR land

5

95 Interpretation

In this subpart and **Schedule 4**, unless the context requires another meaning,—

dispose of, in relation to RFR land,—

- (a) means to—
 - (i) transfer or vest the fee simple estate in the land; or
 - (ii) grant a lease of the land for a term that is, or will be (if any rights of renewal or extension are exercised under the lease), for 50 years or longer; 15 but
- (b) to avoid doubt, does not include to—
 - (i) mortgage, or give a security interest in, the land; or
 - (ii) grant an easement over the land; or 20
 - (iii) consent to an assignment of a lease, or to a sublease, of the land; or
 - (iv) remove an improvement, fixture, or fitting from the land

expiry date, in relation to an offer, means its expiry date under 25 sections 98(a) and 99

notice means a notice under this subpart

offer means an offer, made in accordance with **section 98**, by an RFR landowner to dispose of RFR land to the trustees

public work has the meaning given in section 2 of the Public 30 Works Act 1981

RFR means right of first refusal

RFR land has the meaning given in section 96

RFR landowner, in relation to RFR land,—

(a) means the Crown, if the land is vested in the Crown or 35 the Crown holds the fee simple estate in the land; and

(b)	means a Crown body, if the body holds the fee simple estate in the land; and	
(c)	includes a local authority to which RFR land has been	
	disposed of under section 104(1)	
RFF	R period means the period of 100 years from the settlement	5
date.		
Mea	ning of RFR land	
In th	is Act, RFR land means—	
(a)	land described in attachment 5 of the deed of settlement if, on the settlement date, the land is vested in the Crown	10

under section 109(1)(c) or 110.

However, land ceases to be RFR land if—

96 **(1)**

(2)

(b)

the RFR landowner transfers the fee simple estate in the 15 land to-

or the Crown holds the fee simple estate in the land; and land obtained in exchange for RFR land disposed of

- (i) the trustees or their nominee (for example, under section 102); or
- (ii) any other person (including the Crown or a Crown body) in accordance with section 97(c); 20
- (b) the RFR landowner transfers the fee simple estate in the land to, or vests the fee simple estate in the land in, a person other than the Crown or a Crown body under any of sections 106 to 113 (which relate to permitted 25 disposal of RFR land); or
- (c) the RFR period ends.

Restrictions on disposal of RFR land

97 Restrictions on disposal of RFR land

An RFR landowner must not dispose of RFR land to a person 30 other than the trustees or their nominee unless the land is disposed of—

- under any of sections 103 to 112; or (a)
- as required by a matter referred to in section 113(1); (b) or

35

98

cl 98	Ngāti Mākino Claims Settlement Bill	
(c)	within 2 years after the expiry date of an offer by RFR landowner to dispose of the land to the truste the offer—	
	 (i) was made in accordance with section 98; and (ii) was on terms that were the same as, or more favourable to the trustees than, the terms of the disposal to the person; and 	re
	(iii) was not withdrawn under section 100; and(iv) was not accepted under section 101.	
	Trustees' right of first refusal	
Req	rements for offer	
	er by an RFR landowner to dispose of RFR land to the smust be by notice to the trustees, incorporating—	he
(a)	the terms of the offer, including its expiry date; and	
(b)	a legal description of the land, including any encur brances affecting it and the reference for any computer register that applies to the land; and	

99 Expiry date of offer

to the offer.

(c)

(d)

- (1) The expiry date of an offer must be on or after the date that is 20 business days after the trustees receive notice of the offer.
- (2) However, the expiry date of an offer may be on or after the 25 date that is 10 business days after the trustees receive notice of the offer if—

a street address for the land (if applicable); and

a street address, postal address, and fax number for the

trustees to give notices to the RFR landowner in relation 20

- (a) the trustees received an earlier offer to dispose of the land; and
- (b) the expiry date of the earlier offer was not more than 6 30 months before the expiry date of the later offer; and
- (c) the earlier offer was not withdrawn.

100 Withdrawal of offer

The RFR landowner may, by notice to the trustees, withdraw an offer at any time before it is accepted.

35

5

10

15

The trustees may, by notice to the RFR landowner who made

Acceptance of offer

an offer, accept the offer if—

101

(1)

	(a)	it has not been withdrawn; and	_
(2)	(b)	its expiry date has not passed.	5
(2)		trustees must accept all the RFR land offered, unless the permits them to accept less.	
102	Forn	nation of contract	
(1)	of Rl	e trustees accept an offer by an RFR landowner to dispose FR land, a contract for the disposal of the land is formed een the landowner and the trustees on the terms in the .	10
(2)		terms of the contract may be varied by written agreement een the landowner and the trustees.	
(3)	than	er the contract, the trustees may nominate any person other the trustees (the nominee) to receive the transfer of the land.	15
(4)	(a)	if the nominee is lawfully able to hold the RFR land; and	20
	(b)	by giving notice to the RFR landowner on or before the day that is 10 business days before the day on which the transfer is to settle.	
(5)	The 1 (a) (b)	the full name of the nominee; and any other details about the nominee that the RFR landowner needs in order to transfer the RFR land to the nominee.	25
(6)		e trustee nominates a nominee, the trustee remains liable ne obligations of the transferee under the contract.	30
		Disposal if land remains RFR land	
103 (1)		osal to the Crown or Crown bodies EFR landowner may dispose of RFR land to—	
	(a) (b)	the Crown; or a Crown body.	35

Part 3	cl 104 Ngāti Mākino Claims Settlement Bill
(2)	To avoid doubt, if the RFR landowner is the Crown, it may dispose of RFR land to a Crown body in accordance with section 143(5) or 206 of the Education Act 1989.
104	Disposal of existing public works to local authority
(1)	An RFR landowner may dispose of RFR land that is a public
	work, or part of a public work, in accordance with section 50
	of the Public Works Act 1981 to a local authority (as defined

- To avoid doubt, if RFR land is disposed of to a local authority (2) under subsection (1), the local authority becomes
 - an RFR landowner of the land; and

in section 2 of that Act).

(b) subject to the obligations of an RFR landowner under this subpart.

5

10

25

105 Disposal of reserves to administering bodies

- An RFR landowner may dispose of RFR land in accordance 15 (1) with section 26 or 26A of the Reserves Act 1977.
- To avoid doubt, if RFR land that is reserve is vested in an (2) administering body under subsection (1), the administering body does not become
 - the RFR landowner of the land; or 20 (a)
 - subject to the obligations of an RFR landowner under (b) this subpart.
- (3) However, if RFR land vests back in the Crown under section 25 or 27 of the Reserves Act 1977, the Crown becomes
 - the RFR landowner of the land; and (a)
 - (b) subject to the obligations of an RFR landowner under this subpart.

Disposal if land may cease to be RFR land

- 106 Disposal in accordance with enactment or rule of law An RFR landowner may dispose of RFR land in accordance 30 with an obligation under any enactment or rule of law.
- 107 Disposal in accordance with legal or equitable obligation An RFR landowner may dispose of RFR land in accordance with-

	(a)	(i) was unconditional before the settlement date; or (ii) was conditional before the settlement date but became unconditional on or after the settlement date; or (iii) arose after the exercise (whether before, on, or after the settlement date) of an option existing	5
	(b)	before the settlement date; or the requirements, existing before the settlement date, of a gift, endowment, or trust relating to the land.	10
108	-	rown may dispose of RFR land in accordance with—section 54(1)(d) of the Land Act 1948; or section 355(3) of the Resource Management Act 1991; or subpart 3 of Part 2 of the Marine and Coastal Area (Takutai Moana) Act 2011.	15
109 (1)	_	section 40(2) or (4) or 41 of the Public Works Act 1981 (including as applied by another enactment); or section 52, 105(1), 106, 114(3), 117(7), or 119 of the	20
	(c) (d) (e)	Public Works Act 1981; or section 117(3)(a) of the Public Works Act 1981; or section 117(3)(b) of the Public Works Act 1981 if the land is disposed of to the owner of adjoining land; or section 23(1) or (4), 24(4), or 26 of the New Zealand Railways Corporation Restructuring Act 1990.	25
(2)	the Maon		30
110	-	J 1	35

section 15 of the Reserves Act 1977; or

Disposals for charitable purposes

charitable purposes.

section 16A or 24E of the Conservation Act 1987.

An RFR landowner may dispose of RFR land as a gift for

5

111

(a)

(b)

112	1				
	The C	Crown may dispose of RFR land—			
	(a)	that was held on settlement date for education purposes			
		to a person who, immediately before the disposal, is a			
		tenant of the land or all or part of a building on the land;	10		
		or			
	(b)	under section 67 of the Land Act 1948, if the disposal			
		is to a lessee under a lease of the land granted—			
		(i) before the settlement date; or			
		(ii) on or after the settlement date as a renewal of a	15		
		lease granted before the settlement date; or			
	(c)	under section 93(4) of the Land Act 1948.			
		RFR landowner's obligations			
113	RFR	landowner's obligations under this subpart			
(1)		FR landowner's obligations under this subpart in relation	20		
(-)		FR land are subject to—			
	(a)	any other enactment or rule of law but, in the case of a			
Crown body, the obligations apply despite the purpose, functions, or objectives of the Crown body; and					
	()	(i) that prevents or limits an RFR landowner's dis-			
		posal of RFR land to the trustees; and			
		(ii) that the RFR landowner cannot satisfy by taking			
		reasonable steps; and			
	(c)	the terms of a mortgage over, or security interest in,	30		
	, ,	RFR land.			
(2)	Reaso	onable steps, for the purposes of subsection (1)(b)(ii),			
` /		ot include steps to promote the passing of an enactment.			
(3)	This	subpart does not limit any of the things referred to in			
` '		ection (1).	35		
		•			
68					
50					

10

Notices

114	Notice of RFR lan	id with	computer	register	after
	settlement date				

- (1) If a computer register is first created for RFR land after the settlement date, the RFR landowner must give the chief executive of LINZ notice that the register has been created.
- (2) If land for which there is a computer register becomes RFR land after the settlement date, the RFR landowner must give the chief executive of LINZ notice that the land has become RFR land.
- (3) The notice must be given as soon as is reasonably practicable after a computer register is first created for the RFR land or after the land becomes RFR land.
- (4) The notice must include the reference for the computer register and a legal description of the land.

115 Notice to trustees of disposal of RFR land to others

- (1) An RFR landowner must give the trustees notice of the disposal of RFR land by the landowner to a person other than the trustees.
- (2) The notice must be given at least on or before the date that is 20 20 business days before the disposal.
- (3) The notice must—
 - (a) include a legal description of the land, including any encumbrances affecting it; and
 - (b) identify any computer register that applies to the land; 25 and
 - (c) include a street address for the land (if applicable); and
 - (d) identify the person to whom the land is being disposed of; and
 - (e) explain how the disposal complies with **section 97**; 30 and
 - (f) if the disposal is made under **section 97(c)**, include a copy of any written contract for the disposal.

116 Notice of land ceasing to be RFR land

(1) This section applies if land described in a computer register 35 ceases to be RFR land because—

(a)

(i)

the RFR landowner transfers the fee simple estate in the

the trustees (for example, under **section 101**);

	(ii) any other person (including the Crown or a Crown body) under section 97(c) ; or	5
	(b) the RFR landowner transfers the fee simple estate in the land to, or vests the fee simple estate in the land in, a person other than the Crown or a Crown body under	1.0
/=\	sections 106 to 113.	10
(2)	The RFR landowner must, as early as practicable before the transfer or vesting, give the chief executive of LINZ notice that the land is to cease being RFR land.	
(3)	The notice must—	
()	(a) include a legal description of the land and identify the computer register that applies to the land; and	15
	(b) specify the details of the transfer or vesting of the land.	
117	Notice requirements Schedule 4 applies to notices given under this subpart by or to— (a) an RFR landowner; or (b) the trustees.	20
	Memorials for RFR land	
118 (1)	Recording memorials on computer registers for RFR land The chief executive of LINZ must issue to the Registrar-General 1 or more certificates that specify the legal descriptions of, and identify the computer registers that apply to,— (a) the RFR land for which there is a computer register on the settlement date; and	25
	 (b) the RFR land for which a computer register is first created after the settlement date; and (c) land for which there is a computer register that becomes RFR land after the settlement date. 	30
(2)	The chief executive must issue a certificate as soon as is reasonably practicable after—	35

	(a) the settlement date, in the case of RFR land for which there is a computer register on the settlement date; or		
	(b) receiving a notice under section 114 that a computer register has been created for the RFR land or that the land has become RFR land, in any other case.	5	
(3)	Each certificate must state that it is issued under this section.		
(4)	The chief executive must provide a copy of each certificate to the trustees as soon as is reasonably practicable after issuing the certificate.		
(5)	The Registrar-General must, as soon as is reasonably practicable after receiving a certificate issued under this section, record on the computer register for the RFR land identified in the certificate that the land—	10	
	(a) is RFR land as defined in section 96 ; and		
	(b) is subject to the restrictions under this subpart.	15	
119	Removal of memorials when land to be transferred or vested		
(1)	The chief executive of LINZ must, as soon as practicable after receiving a notice that land has ceased to be RFR land under section 116(2) and before registration of the transfer or vesting, issue to the Registrar-General a certificate that— (a) specifies the legal description of the land and identifies the computer register that applies to the land; and	20	
	(b) specifies the details of the transfer or vesting of the land; and	25	
	(c) states that it is issued under this section.		
(2)	The chief executive must provide a copy of each certificate to the trustees as soon as is reasonably practicable after issuing the certificate.		
(3)	If the Registrar-General receives a certificate issued under this section, he or she must, immediately before registering the transfer or vesting of the land described in the certificate, remove the memorial recorded under section 118 from the computer register for the land.	30	

120	Removal of memorials when RFR period ends
(1)	The chief executive of LINZ must, as soon as is reasona

- blv practicable after the RFR period ends, issue to the Registrar-General a certificate that
 - identifies each computer register that still has a memor- 5 ial recorded on it under section 118; and
 - states that it is issued under this section. (b)
- (2) The chief executive must provide a copy of each certificate to the trustees as soon as is reasonably practicable after issuing the certificate.

The Registrar-General must, as soon as is reasonably prac-(3) ticable after receiving a certificate issued under this section, remove the memorial recorded under section 118 from any computer register identified in the certificate.

General provisions

15

10

121 Waiver and variation

- The trustees may, by notice to an RFR landowner, waive any (1) or all of the rights the trustees have in relation to the landowner under this subpart.
- (2) The trustees and an RFR landowner may agree in writing to 20 vary or waive any of the rights each has in relation to the other under this subpart.
- (3) A waiver or agreement under this section is on the terms, and applies for the period, specified in it.

Disposal of Crown bodies not affected 122

25

This subpart does not limit the ability of the Crown, or a Crown body, to sell or dispose of a Crown body.

Schedule 1 ss 8, 38 Statutory area and whenua rāhui area

Statutory area Location

Part of Lake Rotoma Scenic Reserve as shown marked in yellow on deed plan OTS-275-10

Part of Lake Rotoiti Scenic Reserve

as shown marked in yellow on deed plan OTS-275-11

Whenua rāhui site Location

Part of Lake Rotoma Scenic Reserve

256 hectares approximately, being 10A Rotoiti Block, Sections 15 and 16, Block VI Rotoma Survey District and Sections 1, 6, 12, and 16 Block XI Rotoma Survey District (as shown marked in yellow on deed plan OTS-275-13).

Schedule 2 **Cultural redress properties**

ss 57, 68

in section 62(3) and (4).

Site that vests in fee simple subject to easement

Name of site Description **Encumbrances** Te Kōhanga site South Auckland Land Subject to right of way District-Western Bay of easement in gross re-Plenty District. ferred to in section 202 hectares, approxi-58(3). mately, being part Section 1 SO 60652. Part Gazette 1940 page 2595, part Gazette 1920 page 2109, and part Gazette 1937 page 1711. Subject to survey. As shown on OTS-275-Together with the right of 06. way easement referred to in section 58(4).

S

Site that vests in fee simple subject to conservation covenant					
Name of site	Description	Encumbrances			
Rākau ō Kauwae Hapa site	South Auckland Land District–Whakatane Dis- trict. 274.8329 hectares, more or less, being Section 2 SO 60650. Part <i>Gazette</i> 1981 page 2680.	Subject to a right of way easement over part of Section 2 SO 60650 marked A on SO 378784 in favour of Lot 2 DP 35012, Lots 3 and 4 DP 35014, Lot 1 DP 57549, Lots 1 and 2 DP 57553, and Lot 6 DP 35014.			
		Subject to a right of way easement created by deed of easement 6405090.4 and held in Computer Interest Register (Provisional) 220529. Subject to the conservation covenant referred to			

Sites that vest in fee simple to be administered as scenic reserves

Name of site

Description

Encumbrances

Scenic reserve subject to

section 19(1)(a) of the

Reserves Act 1977.

Ngā Pōrōtai-o-Waitahaa-Hei site

South Auckland Land District-Western Bay of Plenty District. 23 hectares, approxi-

mately, being part Section 1 SO 60652. Part Gazette 1940 page 2595. Subject to survey.

As shown on OTS-275-08.

Together with the right of way easement referred

Lake Rotoehu Scenic Reserve site

South Auckland Land District-Rotorua District.

41.2779 hectares, more or less, being Section 20 Block VI Rotoma Survey District.

All Gazette 1973 page 1693.

33.5000 hectares, more or less, being Section 27 Rotoma Survey District. All Gazette 1977 page 2638.

45.0260 hectares, more or less, being Sections 28, 29, 30, and 31 Block VI Rotoma Survey District.

All Gazette 1978 page 2532.

11.2700 hectares, more or less, being Sections 32 and 33 Block VI Rotoma Survey District. All Gazette 1979 page 1095.

0.2800 hectares, more or less, being Sections 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, and 8 SO 47354.

0.6194 hectares, more or less, being Sections 3 and 5 SO 47355.

to in section 65(5).

Scenic reserve subject to section 19(1)(a) of the Reserves Act 1977. Subject to a water supply easement held in computer interest register SA 48C/94 (affecting Section 20 Block VI Rotoma Survey District).

Name of site	Description 0.1077 hectares, more or less, being Sections 1 and 2 SO 47356.	Encumbrances
Balance of Matawhāura site	South Auckland Land District–Rotorua Dis- trict. 53 hectares, approxi- mately, being part Sec- tion 2 SO 382301. Part Proclamation 5125. Sub- ject to survey.	Scenic reserve subject to section 19(1)(a) of the Reserves Act 1977.
	As shown on OTS-275-02.	

Site that vests in fee simple to be administered as local purpose (conservation and education) reserve

Name of site Rotoehu Forest Central Wānanga site	Description South Auckland Land District—Western Bay of Plenty District. 3 hectares, approximately, being part Section 1 SO 60652. Part Gazette 1940 page 2595 and part Gazette 1920 page 2109. Subject to survey.	Encumbrances Local purpose (conservation and education) reserve subject to section 23 of the Reserves Act 1977.
	As shown on OTS-275-07.	Together with the right of way easement referred to in section 66(5) .

Schedule 3 Moutoroi Pā

s 78

Name of site

Moutoroi Pā site

Description

South Auckland Land District—Western Bay of Plenty District. 0.2093 hectares approximately, being part Section 1A Block X Waihi South Survey District.

As shown on OTS-275-

Subject to survey.

Encumbrances

Schedule 4

ss 95, 117

5 tice
5 tice
tice
stal 10
the
the
ade 15
tice
by
of a
der 20
ad-
2.5
25
30
lon
l be
35
1